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Focus on … the Puijila darwini team
Puijila darwini – “Missing Link” Discovery on Devon Island

Dr. Natalia Rybczynski, a vertebrate palaeontologist with the Canadian Museum of 
Nature and her expedition team had a spectacular find in the High Arctic, in the Haughton  
impact crater on Devon Island. Their fossil quest yielded an amazingly complete (around 
65 percent) skeleton of an extinct animal previously unknown to science. In fact, it  
represents a “missing link” in the evolution of pinnipeds (which today includes seals, 
sea lions and walruses).

The fossil remains were that of a four-legged, semi-aquatic carnivore that lived 24 to  
20 million years ago. Since named Puijila darwini, this new genus helps us to understand 
how pinnipeds evolved from terrestrial to semi-aquatic to marine forms. Puijila appears 
to be an early transitional form in the freshwater, semi-aquatic stage.

Puijila had an elongated, streamlined body and webbed feet, much like today’s otters. 
It would have moved through the water with great agility and speed to catch fish in the 
crater’s now-vanished freshwater lake. It is likely to have hunted both on land and in 
water at a time when the Arctic climate was cool and humid, similar to that found in 
Atlantic Canada today. 

Ph
ot

o:
 E

d 
A

. H
en

dr
yc

ks

Focus on … Canada’s three oceans Study

As part of International Polar Year research, the Museum’s Dr. Kathleen Conlan and 
Ed Hendrycks are researchers on the Three Oceans Project. The goal of this project is 
to study the chemistry and biology of the waters in the North Pacific, Arctic and North 
Atlantic Oceans and to establish a scientific base for sustainable, long term monitoring.

The results of this project will help to build an integrated view of the chemical, physi-
cal and biological oceanic structure of subarctic and arctic waters around Canada. This 
information will help scientists to monitor changes and investigate causal mechanisms, 
consequences and stability of northern ocean domains.

Dr. Conlan has been a marine biologist with the Museum since 1979. An experienced 
polar diver, Dr. Conlan studies how natural and human disturbance in the Arctic and 
in Antarctica affects marine life on the sea floor. She is also the author of the award-
winning children’s book Under the Ice. Ed Hendrycks has been a research assistant at the 
Museum since 1985, and has taken part in numerous deep sea collecting expeditions. 
During a recent Three Oceans expedition (July 2007) aboard the CCGS icebreaker Louis 
S. St. Laurent, he collected samples of marine invertebrates from the sea floor of the 
Eastern Arctic Ocean at depths reaching 800 metres.

Cover Photos: top left: Lynn Gillespie; top right, Trevor Lush/Students on Ice; bottom left, David Gray; bottom right, Jack Gillett. 
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Research Results

The Museum is a living institution that seeks to increase our understanding of the natural 
world. Its researchers and scientists are constantly making important discoveries.

The discovery by Museum scientists of Puijila darwini provides the first fossil 
evidence that early ancestors of seals, sea lions and walruses lived in the Arctic. Museum 
palaeontologists also discovered the world’s oldest known fossilized turtle, helping to 
solve a long-standing mystery of evolution – how the turtle got its shell. This year alone, 
Museum researchers published more than 60 papers in respected scientific journals, 
documenting and sharing their findings with the world. 

Arctic Focus

Ongoing work by Museum experts is helping to maintain its position as one of the 
world’s foremost centres of knowledge on Polar Regions. This year, among other Arctic 
achievements, Museum researchers made major contributions to International Polar Year 
studies. The Museum sponsored the Students on Ice programme for the seventh con-
secutive year and facilitated the participation of 14 members of the Alliance of Natural 
History Museums of Canada (ANHMC) in the Polar Perspectives series of public forums 
and lectures focused on the question “What does the Arctic mean to you?” These pro-
grammes helped to raise national awareness about the Canadian Arctic and its people, 
this year with a particular emphasis on the impact of climate change on Polar Regions. 

national Service

The Museum continued to build on a tradition of national service by reaching new 
audiences across Canada. Events like the Polar Perspectives lecture series engaged 
Canadians in the debate on issues of relevance to our country’s natural heritage; travelling 
exhibitions introduced audiences in 21 cities to new perspectives on nature; public 
programming involved and informed Canadians on matters relating to their natural 
world; and the Museum’s website, nature.ca, was enhanced to provide students, parents 
and teachers with more information and easier access to knowledge.

The Museum continued to be an active member of the Alliance of Natural History 
Museums of Canada, working with colleagues in 15 museums across Canada to 
exchange information on natural history collections, research and education. A milestone 
achievement this year was the definition of a national collections development strategy 
that will help Alliance members effectively manage their limited budgets and resources 
while building and maintaining Canada’s natural history legacy. 

Renewal of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building 

The Renewal Project continued at a fast pace throughout the year focusing on the 
completion of work to the East Wing and central core of the Victoria Memorial Museum 
Building. While renovation work progressed on time and on budget, the Museum’s three 
new signature exhibitions, the Talisman Energy Fossil Gallery, the Bird Gallery, and the 
Mammal Gallery, continued to please both new audiences and returning visitors. 

Message from the Chair and the President  
and Chief Executive Officer

on behalf of the Board of trustees and the Staff, we are pleased to present this 

Annual Report for the period from April 1, 2008 to March 31, 2009 .
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The Museum’s primary focus for 2009-2010 is to complete the renewal of the Victoria 
Memorial Museum Building. The grand reopening in May 2010 will provide a once-in-
a-century opportunity to celebrate a major achievement and to reinforce the Museum’s 
presence in the National Capital Region. In 2010, when the signatories to the 1992 
International Convention on Biological Diversity are called to account for their progress, 
the Government of Canada will be able to point proudly to the renewed Canadian 
Museum of Nature as a major step forward in fulfilling its commitments.

promising Results, ongoing Challenges

Generating revenues continued to be a priority for the Museum. The goal is to double 
earned and contributed revenue to 15 percent of the operating budget by 2011-2012. 
This year’s attendance and revenue figures were highly promising; however, the Museum 
continued to work on finding new sources of revenue and a solution to the $2.2 million 
shortfall in operating costs that will occur when the Victoria Memorial Museum Building 
fully opens to the public in May 2010.

A new Corporate Strategy

2008-2009 was a transition year for the Museum during which its new Strategic Plan 
was finalized. In following the plan over the next five years, the Museum will define its 
role in Canadian society as an advocate for nature. To fulfill this role, the Museum’s new 
strategies and objectives emphasize a new institutional direction – one that encourages 
environmental responsibility through scientific discovery and debate. At the same time, 
just as it has for the past five years, the Museum will continue to shape and refine its 
national service strategy to deliver ever-increasing value across the country.

The past year has seen the Museum make great progress on many fronts. The significant 
achievements of its people in this and prior years have established a firm foundation on 
which to build future success. As we enter the new fiscal year, we are excited by the 
challenges and prospects afforded by our new Strategic Plan, and are eagerly preparing 
for the grand reopening of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. In this year’s Annual 
Report we highlight our recent accomplishments as we look with anticipation to the future.

M e S S a G e  f r o M  T h e  C h a I r  a n D  T h e  P r e S I D e n T  a n D  C h I e f  e x e C u T I v e  o f f I C e r

Joanne DiCosimo
President and Chief Executive Officer

r. Kenneth armstrong
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 
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Puijila darwini – the Missing link

A research team led by Museum palaeontologist Dr. Natalia Rybczynski is credited with the discovery of a prehistoric “walking seal”, 
believed to be a missing link between land and sea mammals. Puijila darwini was a semi-aquatic carnivore with webbed feet, robust 
forelimbs and a long tail. As reported in the journal Nature, the discovery of the 24- to 20-million-year-old fossil on Devon Island in 
Nunavut provides new insight into evolutionary processes that draw a direct line to today’s seals, sea lions and walruses.

In celebration of this discovery, the Museum has created a 32-page, feature on its website nature.ca. The Puijila feature includes an 
interactive 3-D recreation of the animal, as well as the story of its discovery. 

Performance Highlights

Victoria Memorial Museum  
Building Renewal

Now entering the final stretch, the renewal of the Victoria Memorial 
Museum Building continues to be on schedule for its grand reopening 
in May 2010. Throughout the year, work continued on restoring the 
building’s East Wing and Central Core. In preparation for the grand 
reopening, preliminary design of the new Earth Gallery was completed, 
as was the design and marketing plan for the Water Gallery. 
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An old Shell Game?

While searching for marine reptiles in the Triassic limestone deposits of 
southwestern Guizhou province in China, Dr. Xiao-chun Wu and his 
team made a thrilling discovery that may explain how today’s turtles got 
their shells. Dr. Wu’s team uncovered three adult specimens estimated 
to be 220-million-years old. The fossils clearly show characteristics 
never before seen in turtles including teeth and an incomplete upper 
shell. With dry scientific humour, the new discovery has been named 
Odontochelys semitestacea (meaning toothed, half-shelled turtle).

The discovery, reported in the journal Nature, is significant because 
it supports the theory that turtle shells formed from the animal’s belly, 
followed by the later development of the upper carapace. 
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P e r f o r M a n C e  h I G h L I G h T S

Henry and Anne Howden Collection

For over a decade, the Museum has been receiving a planned donation of more than 
456,000 scarab and weevil beetles from the collection of Dr. Henry and Anne Howden. 
The collection including their 2008 donation of 63,927 specimens, represents more 
than 50 years of study and effort and includes many rare and irreplaceable specimens. 
It will make the Museum the primary resource for consultation on Scarabaeoidea and 
Curculionoidea. 

Both Henry and Anne Howden continue their lifelong work on the collection as  
research associates at the Museum. 
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travelling exhibitions

Two new travelling exhibitions have been developed for launches in June and November 
of 2009 – Canadian Wildlife Photography of the Year (June), a partnership with Canadian 
Geographic and the Alliance of Natural History Museums of Canada; and Canada’s 
Waterscapes (November), a partnership with Parks Canada, the Natural Sciences and 
Engineering Research Council of Canada, the Royal Bank of Canada and the Canadian 
Water Network.
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polar perspectives

The Polar Perspectives series of forums and lectures featured well-known speakers discussing 
a variety of subjects ranging from environmental impacts in the Arctic to the latest  
polar research discoveries. Held in 15 Alliance of Natural History Museum and other 
venues across Canada in recognition of International Polar Year, the Polar Perspectives 
series helped introduce many Canadians to the issues and challenges of the Arctic and 
its people. 

In cooperation with the Students on Ice programme, Polar Perspectives also included 
a speakers’ series for secondary school students addressing the Arctic ecosystem, climate 
change and northern issues. 
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Mumba – Canada’s Silverback Gorilla

When Mumba, a long-time resident of the Granby Zoo in Quebec died in October, his 
remains were carefully preserved for scientific study through an important collaboration 
between the Zoo and the Canadian Museum of Nature. At 48 years of age, Mumba was the 
oldest male gorilla in captivity. Taken when he was just 15 months old from the forests of 
Cameroon, Mumba was a favourite of Zoo visitors. He drank tea, enjoyed listening to soft 
rock and jazz, and liked to watch Scooby Doo cartoons on television. In his later years he 
suffered from arthritis. Mumba will now provide researchers with important insight into 
anthropoid aging and development, and his legacy as a spokesperson for conservation 
will live on in the public eye. 
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In 1851, Sir William developed a beautiful display of Canadian minerals of economic 
interest for the Great Exhibition of 1851 in London, England. The Survey’s first 
exhibition work was enormously successful. “Of all the British colonies,” the Exhibition 
Committee declared, “Canada is that whose exhibition is the most interesting and the 
most complete.” Sir William’s enormous success in London strengthened public support 
for the Survey, and set a precedent for the Museum’s popular travelling exhibitions.

In 1852, Sir William, his assistants and his collections were temporarily housed in 
various warehouses in Montreal. Then, in 1856, Parliament mandated the Geological 
Survey to publicly display its growing natural science collections. The collections moved 
into a mansion on St. Gabriel Street, which had been owned by Peter McGill, President 
of the Bank of Montreal. This building became the Museum’s home for the next 30 years 
until it moved to George Street in Ottawa’s Byward Market in 1881.

The years 1867-1907 were an exciting period of growth for the Geological Survey of 
Canada. The field officers studied, collected and reported on the country’s topography, 
climate, flora and fauna, geology and mineral resources, as well as on Canada’s Aboriginal 
peoples. 

First purpose-built national museum 

Commissioned by Sir Wilfred Laurier, the Victoria Memorial Museum Building 
commemorates Queen Victoria, who died in 1901. The building opened its doors to 
the public in 1912 with spectacular exhibits of Canadian minerals, birds and fossils 
in beautiful new display cases. The skeleton of Edmontosaurus was the first dinosaur 
mounted for public display in Canada in 1913 and is now on view in the new Talisman 
Energy Fossil Gallery. The bulk of the Museum’s collections of dinosaurs were discovered 
by Charles M. Sternberg in southwestern Alberta.

parliamentary connections 

After a fire destroyed the Centre Block of the Parliament Buildings in 1916, the seat of 
government moved temporarily to the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. The House 
of Commons sat in the Auditorium for four years while the Senate occupied the East 
Wing. Sir Wilfrid Laurier never returned to the Hill. He died in 1919 and his body lay in 
state surrounded by flags and flowers in the Museum’s Auditorium. 

A Long and Proud History

the Canadian Museum of nature originated in the Geological Survey of Canada, 

formed in 1842 by Sir William logan . In 1843, Sir William and his assistant, 

Alexander Murray, returned from their first field expedition — a geological survey 

of Southern ontario and Quebec — with hundreds of specimens and nowhere to 

store them . Sir William’s brother, a businessman, let him store the specimens in 

a room above a warehouse in Montreal . there, he and Mr . Murray spent the rest 

of the year unpacking, labelling, cataloguing, and re-packing the specimens in 

numbered boxes — creating the Museum’s first collection .
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new beginnings

The Canadian Museum of Nature became a Crown corporation on July 1, 1990, with a 
new mandate to increase interest in, knowledge of, and appreciation and respect for, the 
natural world throughout Canada and internationally.

At that time, the Museum’s operations were scattered over 13 buildings throughout 
the National Capital Region and its natural science collections were kept in uncontrolled 
environments. A long-term project was initiated to consolidate all collection-related  
operations into one purpose-built facility.

The Natural Heritage Building in Gatineau was inaugurated in May 1997. With its 
leading-edge technology, the new collections and research facility was designed according 
to advanced collection management and protection requirements in order to safeguard 
Canada’s natural history collection.

Ten million specimens, including tiny dried flowers, delicate arrays of pinned insects 
and two-ton dinosaur fossils, were carefully packed and moved from different locations 
around the National Capital Region to the new facility. The Museum received a Canadian 
Museums Association Achievement Award for the successful consolidation project in 1998.

Public Works and Government Services Canada completed extensive stonework 
restoration at the Victoria Memorial Museum Building in 1997. This work was undertaken 
to preserve the façade of this historic building and to ensure the safety of staff and visitors. 
The City of Ottawa acknowledged this achievement with its Heritage Award in 1999. 

Cross-Canada consultations and a comprehensive strategic planning process resulted 
in a new vision of the national role and service of the Canadian Museum of Nature. The 
Museum is working to realize this vision in tandem with the renewal of its exhibition 
site, the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. The rehabilitation work began in spring 
2004, and is proceeding in phases. The Museum reached a milestone in October 2006, 
when the West Wing re-opened with new galleries about fossils, birds and mammals and 
a special exhibitions hall, as part of celebrations to mark the Museum’s 150th anniversary.
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Photo: National Archives of Canada PA9864

Focus on … Arctic exploration

The Canadian Arctic Expedition (CAE) was the first multi-disciplinary scientific expedition 
to the Canadian Arctic. Prior to 1940, it was the only Canadian expedition of a purely 
scientific nature conducted in the Western Arctic. 

The CAE has become the subject of many books and legends. Forced to abandon ship in 
August 1913 when its research vessel became trapped in ice, the Expedition continued 
on foot and by dog sled for nearly five years. The team made geological surveys, sounded 
uncharted waters, discovered four islands, and identified more than 100 new species of 
fish and insects. It served to reinforce Canada’s sovereignty in the Arctic while expanding 
knowledge of the region’s people and natural environment.

As a result of the Expedition, 14 volumes of scientific data were published and the 
Canadian Museum of Nature’s collections were enriched with thousands of animal, 
plant, fossil and rock specimens. These specimens today provide a valuable resource for 
researching the impact of climate change on the North. 

Since that first Expedition, the Canadian Museum of Nature has continued to explore and 
preserve the natural heritage of Canada’s North. Today, the Museum is custodian of the 
Nunavut natural history collections. Its sponsorship of the Students on Ice programme 
provides young people from around the world with an opportunity to visit and experience 
the North. Annual expeditions by Museum staff continue to result in significant findings, 
including the recent discovery of Puijila darwini.

a  L o n G  a n D  P r o u D  h I S T o r y
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Performance Against Objectives in 2008-2009
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the Museum’s national educational projects will be recognized by client groups and peers as a key source of relevant infor-

mation about the environment and our place in it . the Museum will be national in its collections scope — recognized both as 

coordinator of the national repository and as an international leader in the production and circulation of travelling exhibi-

tions . the Museum will be recognized as a leader in the management and preservation of collections, and in the documen-

tation processes and systems that make these collections relevant to CMn national partners . Museum research activities 

will be fully integrated with other functions, recognized by peers and the public, adding value to the national collection and 

providing service to the public . A range of research activities will address environmental change .

Create an accessible programme of national educational 
projects to encourage and foster formal and informal  
learning for Canadians . 

public education

The Museum’s educational projects continued to encourage and foster formal and  
informal learning by Canadians about nature and their natural environment. In addition 
to the Museum’s signature and special exhibitions at the Victoria Memorial Museum 
Building, public education programmes included activities in and around the National 
Capital Region and travelling exhibitions that toured the country. 

exhibitions

To prepare for the 2010 reopening, Museum staff completed the preliminary design of 
the new Earth Gallery and the new Water Gallery, to be featured in the renovated East 
Wing of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. 

Special exhibitions offered through the year in the Victoria Memorial Museum Building’s 
3rd Floor Gallery included:

n F. H. Varley: Portraits into the Light – a popular art exhibition presented in partnership 
with the Portrait Gallery of Canada;

n Barbara Gamble: Natural Affinities – an historical perspective by a famed Canadian 
naturalist; 

n The Language of Nature – weaving nature and words through the artistry of Montreal’s 
Susan Coolen; 

n Discovering Chimpanzees – the remarkable world of Jane Goodall;

n Ice Age Mammals – The dramatic effects of environmental change over time.

Create and make accessible to the public relevant  
information about the environment and our place in it.

O B J E C T I V E

1

P e r f o r M a n C e  a G a I n S T  o b J C T I v e S  I n  2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9
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travelling exhibitions

The Museum’s educational projects continued to encourage and foster formal and informal 
learning by Canadians about nature and their natural environment. 

Eleven full-sized travelling exhibitions continued to tour, reaching 21 museums and 
science centres across the country and attended by over 355,300 visitors. The decline 
in overall attendance in comparison to the last year reflects visits by these exhibitions to 
smaller and sometimes more remote communities. In addition, the Museum’s popular 
suitcase exhibitions on a variety of topics from genetics, dinosaurs, minerals, monarch 
butterflies and whales were also presented at 25 venues across the country, including 
libraries, community centres, and schools, as well as museums. 

Examples of the 11 travelling exhibitions include: 

n Fatal Attraction – Sponsored by the Canadian Museum of Nature in collaboration 
with the Alliance of Natural History Museums of Canada and the European Consortium 
of Natural History Museums, this fact-loaded look at animal courtship continued to 
thrill visitors through to its closing at the Manitoba Museum in September. 

n The Geee! in Genome – The Museum launched a second national tour of this highly 
popular travelling exhibition on genomics. The first tour reached over 1.5 million 
Canadians. The new tour opened at the Red Deer Museum and Art Gallery in June, 
the Thunder Bay Art Gallery in September, and opened at the Musée minéralogique 
et minier de Thetford Mines in January. It is scheduled to open in Kitchener at the 
Children’s Museum in April 2009 and in Vancouver at Science World in October 2009. 

n On the Labrador: photographs by Arnold Zageris – This exhibition about one of Canada’s 
remote natural regions completed its tour at The Rooms in St. John’s, Newfoundland 
and travelled to Labrador where it was presented from April through September.

n Ice Age Mammals – This exhibition, produced by CMN in partnership with the Royal 
Tyrrell Museum of Palaeontology, the Yukon Beringia Centre and Montreal Science 
Centre was on display over the summer months in Ottawa prior to opening at the 
New Brunswick Museum in September. It opened at the Nova Scotia Museum of 
Natural History in January 2009.

n Extreme Mammals: the Biggest, Smallest and Most Amazing Mammals of All Time – This 
travelling exhibition was developed by the American Museum of Natural History in 
New York, the California Academy of Sciences, the Cleveland Museum of Natural 
History, the Instituto Sangari in Sao Paulo and the Canadian Museum of Nature. It 
will be hosted by the Museum in Ottawa in the summer of 2011. 

n A successful and expanding collaboration with the Royal Canadian Geographical 
Society led to the development of two new travelling exhibitions: A Global Challenge, 
which opened at Canada House in London in September, and the Canadian Wildlife 
Photography of the Year exhibition scheduled to open at the Canadian Museum of 
Nature in Ottawa in June 2009. 
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public programming

n The Museum partnered with various organizations in the planning and delivery of 
innovative programmes: with Canada-Wide Science Fair 2008; during International 
Polar Year with Students on Ice and the Alliance of Natural History Museums of 
Canada in the Polar Perspectives national lecture and student forum series; with the 
Learning Object Collection in cooperation with the Virtual Museum of Canada; with 
the Independent Learning Centre, reporting to the Ontario Ministry of Education; 
with the University of Ottawa to offer practicum placements to Bachelor of Education 
students; with Historica – Encounters with Canada programme, and with the 
Canada Science and Technology Museum for Café Scientifique programmes.

n The Museum offered a variety of programming to school groups, including curriculum-
linked workshops on 17 different topics, a videoconferencing programme for high 
schools, self-guided activities, Web-based educational resources, portable teacher’s 
kits, a High-Definition film programme, workshops for pre-service teachers, and  
a Museum Specimen Loans Programme. Museum workshops saw an increase of  
6.5 percent over last year and unguided visits remained stable for 2008-2009 at 
18,578 students.

n The CANARIE Infrastructure Assistance Programme awarded the Museum a 
connection to its high-speed cross-country research and education optical network. 
This connection allows the Museum to pursue high band-width activities such as 
videoconferencing with schools, and sharing of rich data and multimedia content 
with universities and other museums.

CMn website – nature .ca

n nature.ca, continued to be one of the Museum’s most popular and visible services, 
providing Museum stakeholders with immediate access to a wealth of information 
about the natural environment and about the organization.

n To engage students, teachers and parents, the website’s Natural History Notebooks 
feature was redesigned and expanded. The enhanced Natural History Notebooks 
section now provides bilingual descriptions of 250 animal species and includes over 
1,500 photographs, maps, and illustrations. The new Browse and Search tool greatly 
simplifies the retrieval of “rich” content both within the Notebooks section and 
across the entire website.

n To engage shoppers, the Museum launched its first online e-commerce application 
featuring a catalogue of publications and other products. This application has the 
potential to contribute to the Museum’s strategy for increasing revenues by making it 
easier for customers to access and purchase items through the Museum’s virtual store.

n To engage a broader audience using emerging technologies, the Museum initiated 
several pilot projects on social networking sites including YouTube, Facebook and 
Flickr. The Museum is exploring ways of delivering services and communicating 
with audiences through emerging media such as these sites. As part of this initiative, 
the Museum also launched two blogs. 

Unique Website Visits
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n While the overall number of visitors to the Museum site nature.ca was lower by 
37 percent from last year, the length of time visitors spent at the site increased by  
30 percent to just over 9 minutes. The average number of Web pages viewed per 
visitor also increased by 39 percent to more than 6.5 pages. The quality of visits 
is clearly increasing as visitors are staying longer and reading more. The Natural 
History Notebooks micro site used to account for more than 65 percent of all page 
views in 2005-2006. In 2008-2009 it accounted for just over 40 percent of all 
page views. The other areas of the site have either stayed the same or increased in 
popularity. The core content of nature.ca, not including any of the micro sites, grew 
from 18 percent to 32 percent of all page views for the same periods. Search engine 
results favouring Wikipedia articles, may be responsible for the continued dropping 
in popularity of Natural History Notebooks. 

Create an accessible programme of collections activities 
on issues that are relevant to Canadians .
As a major repository for Canada’s natural history collections, the Canadian Museum 
of Nature is one of the country’s largest sources of information and knowledge about 
the natural world, with 23 major science collections representing Botany, Vertebrates, 
Invertebrates and the Earth Sciences. The collections contain more than 10 million speci-
mens and represent more than 150 years of work to create a consistent and cumulative 
physical record of our national environment.

n The Museum added 86,059 specimens to the national collection in the past fiscal year 
with the highest volumes of growth in the insect, bird and vascular plant collections.  
The collaborative framework with the Alliance of Natural History Museums of Canada 
ensures that the Museum collections activities build on our particular strengths and  
expertise and are complementary to our collaborators’ efforts in collections preservation. 

n The creation and maintenance of electronic specimen records remains an essential 
part of the Museum’s strategy to provide enhanced access to the collections for 
researchers and scientists. In addition to generating records for newly acquired 
specimens, the Museum makes use of the Global Biodiversity Information Facility 
(GBIF) network servers, which act as a clearinghouse of specimen information in 
service of researchers on an international scale. In the past year, almost 4 million 
records were retrieved through the GBIF network. Since posting collections data  
to the CMN node on the GBIF network, 100,964 user sessions have accessed  
7.9 million records and almost 1.9 million records have been downloaded.

n 1.6 million records were downloaded in 2008-2009 from the Museum’s GBIF node 
by scientists conducting natural history and environmental research. This represents 
a 14-fold increase from the previous year and reflects the broader access GBIF has 
created for Internet search engines.

n An important addition to the collection was the donation by the Granby Zoo of 
the remains of Mumba, one of the oldest and best loved Eastern Lowland Gorillas 
in captivity. The tea-drinking Mumba died at the age of 48, and will now provide 
researchers with important insight into anthropoid aging and development. 

Website Visitor Statistics
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n Work continued on refining the Museum’s collection development plans. With a gen-
eral framework for collections development in place, a pilot plan for the Vertebrate 
collection was completed and is now being used as a model for the analysis of other 
collections. Analysis of the Invertebrate, Botany and Earth Sciences collections will 
follow. This work directly compliments the Museum’s participation in developing 
a National Collections Strategy with the other members of the Alliance of Natural 
History Museums of Canada. 

Create an accessible programme of research activities  
on issues that are relevant to Canadians .
Research by Museum scientists through fieldwork and laboratory investigations 
enhanced Museum collections with new specimens, assisted in the development of 
government policy for conservation and made new mineral discoveries that are a key 
asset for marketable industrial products. The Museum’s scientific research programme 
also increased our understanding of the natural world and created new knowledge 
that was used to engage the public. In addition to publishing more than 100 scientific 
papers based on their findings and experience, Museum scientists also wrote natural 
history books for children and adults, gave popular talks, answered public enquiries, and 
demonstrated scientific methods and processes for enthusiastic audiences. 

n Museum research scientists pursued a strong programme of field research in the 
Canadian Arctic. Land-based activities took place on Victoria Island as botanical 
work continued on the flora of the Arctic. A team of palaeontologists continued their 
exploration for vertebrate fossils on Devon and Ellesmere Islands, while another 
team looked for deposits along the Anderson River in the Northwest Territories. 

n In summer 2007, on Devon Island in the High Arctic, a Museum palaeontologist 
discovered the fossil remains of a new species that represents a “missing link” in the 
evolutionary transition from land to water of pinnipeds (the group that includes to-
day’s seals, sea lions and walruses). The animal – named Puijila darwini – is estimated 
to be 24-20 million years old. The announcement of the find was published in the 
prestigious scientific journal Nature.

n Ship-based work took place in Hudson Bay, Lancaster Sound, Amundsen Gulf and 
the Mackenzie Shelf as part of the Arctic Flaw Lead and the Three Oceans Projects 
while work continued on the Beaufort Shelf Project, a five-year environmental 
assessment in preparation for future oil and gas exploration.

n Museum scientists were also active beyond Canada’s borders, making important con-
tributions in areas related to geology, palaeontology and entomology. From studies 
of ants and weevils in Central America to analyses of geological formations in Maine, 
Museum scientists continued to uncover new information about the natural world. 
For example, the Museum’s work with scientists in China resulted in the discovery 
and description of the world’s oldest known fossilized turtle. This discovery was 
critical to deciphering how turtle shells develop and to being able to conclude that 
turtles, as a group, originated in the sea.
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Focus on … 
Dr . Henry F . Howden

Dr. Henry Howden is considered to 
be the world’s preeminent expert on  
scarab beetle systematics. In a career  
spanning half a century, Dr. Howden 
has published more than 206 scien-
tific books, papers, monographs and 
studies, including collaborations with  
over 40 coauthors. 

As a teacher, Dr. Howden has in-
spired hundreds of students with his 
lessons on evolution, biogeography 
and insect systematics. As a field 
scientist, he has organized and led 
research expeditions in the Amazon, 
Australia and across the Americas. 

Now retired after nearly 30 years 
at Carleton University, Dr. Howden 
continues his studies as a Professor 
Emeritus at the university and as an 
honorary research associate at the 
Canadian Museum of Nature. He 
and his wife Anne, also a research 
associate at the Museum, donated 
their insect collection of more than 
456,000 specimens to the Museum 
of Nature over a 19 year period.
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n The products of primary investigations by Museum scientists were represented 
in scholarly journals such as Nature, the Coleopterist Journal, and the Canadian 
Mineralogist. Their work was also on the Web in Zootaxa, in reports, and in books 
such as the Freshwater-floras of Prince Patrick, Elelf Ringnes and northern Ellesmere 
Islands from the Canadian Arctic Archipelago (part of the continuing series on the 
diatoms of North America), and Environmental Influences on Human Brain Evolution 
(part of the Museum’s continuing work on the National Geographic Society’s Human 
Origins Project). Several popular books incorporating Museum research are soon to 
be published, including the Mammals of Canada, Minerals and Rocks of Canada and 
Arctic Marine Fishes of Canada. 

n Museum research scientists took part in university teaching and graduate student 
supervision in botany, mineralogy, palaeontology and zoology as adjunct professors 
in university faculties throughout Canada. 

n Museum science experts contributed to the operation of professional organizations 
through their work on governing boards, editorial boards, and committees for the 
Canadian Committee of the International Union for the Conservation of Nature, the 
Global Biodiversity Information Facility, the International Mineralogical Association, 
the Science Committee for Antarctic Research, the Conservation of Arctic Flora and 
Fauna, and the Committee on the Status of Endangered Wildlife in Canada.
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Focus on … the Circumpolar Flaw lead Study

In support of International Polar Year, the Museum’s Dr. Michel Poulin has been working 
with other researchers on the Circumpolar Flaw Lead (CFL) Study. The flaw lead is a 
breach of open water forming in the winter between the central ice pack and the land-fast 
ice that is usually attached to the shore. 

The main objective of the CFL project is to examine how physical changes will affect the 
biological processes within the flaw lead. Dr. Poulin will determine the species composi-
tion and abundance of phytoplankton (microscopic plants) in the flaw lead and the algae 
that live in the sea ice and how they are affected by environmental factors.

A phycologist with strong expertise in microscopic algae, Dr. Poulin has been with the 
Canadian Museum of Nature since 1984. In his work with the Museum, he applies a 
multidisciplinary approach to the study of biodiversity in aquatic ecosystems. He is also 
involved in ArcticNet, a Canadian Network of Centres of Excellence involving 100 Canadian 
researchers collaborating with foreign scientists to study the impacts of climate change in 
the coastal Canadian Arctic.

Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

Educational programmes are a key source of relevant 
information about the environment

Assessed programmes achieve 75% of desired  
attributes by 2012-2013

A preliminary evaluation of Fire and Ice has been 
completed. It is estimated to have achieved 75%  
of desired attributes

Website visits 5.0 million 2,963,065 visits

Number of accessible electronic collections records 759,000 collection records accessible by 2012-2013 622,513 electronically accessible records

Usefulness of the Museum’s collections 10,000 transactions per year by 2012-2013 8,064 transactions

Refereed publications by staff on issues of relevance 
to Canadians

32 per year (a minimum of two per researcher) 82 referred publications
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the Alliance of natural History Museums of Canada (AnHMC) will have membership from all regions of Canada and will 

communicate regularly . the museum community will recognize the AnHMC as a focal point for natural history issues and 

the AnHMC will review a national collection strategy . the Museum will be contacted regularly as a leader in best practices 

for collection development, management and conservation . the Federal Biodiversity Information partnership (FBIp) will be 

an established federal focal point for biodiversity information and the main coordination mechanism between federal and 

provincial/territorial departments, agencies and related organizations on this issue .

Contribute to building the capacity of Canadian natural 
history museums and other heritage agencies to respond 
efficiently and effectively to natural history issues of  
relevance to Canadians.

O B J E C T I V E

2

As Canada’s leading natural history museum, the Canadian Museum of Nature continued 
to play an important role in supporting the development and operation of networks, 
organizations and agencies engaged in natural history research and education. 

Develop and implement national strategies in collaboration 
with the Alliance of natural History Museums of Canada .
Working with fellow members of the Alliance of Natural History Museums of Canada, 
the Museum helped to develop and refine national strategies for public education,  
collections development and communications.

n The Museum, on behalf of the Alliance of Natural History Museums of Canada, con-
tinued to work with the federal government and the Council of Canadian Academies 
to further the assessment of the “State and Trends in Biodiversity Science in Canada: 
Are we Equipped to Understand the Challenges of our Biodiversity Resources?” The  
list of proposed names for a panel of experts is being considered to oversee the 
assessment which is projected to be completed in the next 12 months. 

public education

n A public education strategy emphasizing public engagement through workshops, 
forums and lectures was defined and launched. This year, the strategy strongly sup-
ported many of the key initiatives of International Polar Year. The ANHMC successfully 
launched the Polar Perspectives series at the Canadian Museum of Nature in Ottawa in 
Spring 2008. This national programme focused on the importance of the Polar Regions 
and featured prominent scientists, writers, artists, filmmakers, adventurers and leaders 
on Arctic issues. A national forum series and lectures for youth in partnership with the 
Students on Ice programme focused on the question “What does the Arctic mean to 
you?” The project was awarded $220,000 in funding from the International Polar Year 
Committee and received an additional $40,000 from the Walter and Duncan Gordon 
Foundation to support the northern videoconferencing activities.

P e r f o r M a n C e  a G a I n S T  o b J C T I v e S  I n  2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9
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n The public education strategy strongly supports the use of travelling exhibitions as 
a means of bringing vital natural history information to locations across the country. 
Travelling exhibitions also provide an outstanding way for the Museum to combine 
its knowledge resources with those of other natural history museums, to share 
collections, and to examine emerging natural history issues jointly for the greater 
benefit of Canadians in all regions. 

n  As part of this strategy, travelling exhibitions like Ice Age Mammals continued to tour 
the country engaging audiences in all regions. A new travelling initiative, Canadian 
Wildlife Photography of the Year, a collaborative project with Canadian Geographic, 
was launched in Spring 2009. 

n A framework has been developed and planning is now underway for a national 
launch and programmes for the International Year of Biodiversity in 2010.

Collections Development

n The Museum’s expertise and resources contributed to the preparation of a National 
Collections management and development strategy which describes how Alliance 
museums will collaborate and share responsibility for creating a comprehensive 
and truly national collection of natural history specimens. The National Collections 
Development Strategy will allow Alliance museums to focus on specific areas of 
collection interest or expertise, and will provide an effective means of managing 
limited budgets and resources for building and maintaining Canada’s natural history 
legacy. In addition, greater emphasis is being placed on the accessibility of collection 
records through distributed databases made accessible through the Internet. This 
work will allow Alliance members to better understand and utilize the collection  
resources at hand and to develop complementary research and collection program-
mes that make best use of this collecting legacy. 

Communications

n In establishing its communications strategy, the ANHMC relied on the Museum’s 
support for launching a new website to provide both ANHMC members and visitors 
with key ANHMC information on a timely basis. In support of the strategy, the 
Museum hosted important networking events like the ANHMC’s 4th Annual General 
Meeting and participated in the ANHMC Science Forum at the Canadian Museums 
Association Conference held in Toronto.

n At the ANHMC Annual General Meeting, at a special ceremony on Parliament Hill, 
the 2008 Bruce Naylor Award for significant contributions to museum-based natural 
history was presented to Dr. Jon Barlow. Known for his studies on bird evolution, 
Dr. Barlow is the foremost authority on vireos (small-to-medium sized songbirds). It 
has been said that through his unique combination of talents – researcher, collector, 
curator, educator, mentor, editor, administrator and larger-than-life personality – he 
transformed the ornithology programme into a flagship department at the Royal 
Ontario Museum in Toronto. Dr. Barlow passed away in February 2009.
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Develop and implement national strategies in collaboration 
with the Canadian Association of Science Centres and 
Students on Ice .
n Museum staff shared new approaches and concepts in collections management and 

conservation with members of the Canadian Museums Association and the Canadian 
Association of Science Centres. By contributing its expertise in collections management, 
the Museum is helping Canadian institutions to consolidate and specialize their local 
collections while promoting a comprehensive nation-wide network of collections. 

n Museum research scientists supported, for the seventh consecutive year, the 
Students on Ice Programme, an initiative that takes high school students from 
around the world on an adventure to Canada’s Arctic. This year a Museum botanist 
accompanied students on a two-week educational expedition to study marine bio-
logy, botany, earth sciences, sustainable development, Inuit culture, environmental 
issues and Arctic sovereignty.

engage in joint efforts with other federal partners to create  
and make information resources accessible to diverse 
Canadian audiences, using innovative approaches, best 
practices, new processes and techniques .
n Continuing its active involvement with the Federal Biodiversity Information 

Partnership (FBIP) the Museum supported Canada’s work to fulfill its commitments 
under the International Convention on Biological Diversity. With federal partners 
including Fisheries and Oceans Canada, Natural Resources Canada, Agriculture and 
Agri-Foods Canada, Public Health Alliance of Canada, Health Canada, Canadian 
Food Inspection Agency, Parks Canada, and Environment Canada, the Museum 
collaborated in activities to make publicly funded research results more accessible, 
in particular those pertaining to issues important in Canada. 

Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

Undertake national projects and activities with the 
ANHMC addressing issues of relevance to Canadians

Undertake two (2) projects / activities with the  
Alliance in 2008-2009

The Museum has been active on a variety of fronts with 
the ANHMC and has exceeded its 2008-2009 targets. 
See Objective 2 for details

Degree of success of projects developed jointly with 
the ANHMC

Increase collaboration with ANHMC Collaboration with ANHMC has met targets for  
2008-2009 

Participation in the Canadian Museums Association 
(CMA) and the Canadian Association of Science 
Centres (CASC)

Increase participation in the CMA and CASC through 
presentations, participation in special interest groups, 
organizing committees, etc.

Museum staff participation in CMA and CASC activities 
were maintained at similar levels as the previous year

Products, publications and services created through 
partnerships with federal agencies and portfolio 
partners

Maximize the number of products created Seven products have been created in  
partnership with other federal entities

P e r f o r M a n C e  a G a I n S T  o b J C T I v e S  I n  2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9



C O N T R I B U T I N G  T O  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  P O L A R  Y E A R1 8

the Museum will be regarded as a “Best practices leader” in the practice of engaging its key audiences through its  

exhibitions, public programming and the Web . the Museum will be recognized as a valued contributor in the development 

of public and government policies .

Create national forums to discuss, debate and share  
information on relevant environmental issues of concern 
to Canadians .
n The Museum participated in a variety of national forums for debating and sharing 

information on relevant environmental issues. The Geee! in Genome travelling exhibi-
tion, for example, encourages discussion about the ethical and social implications of 
cutting-edge science associated with DNA, genes and genomics. This exhibition will 
continue its successful tour across Canada through 2010.

n The Museum was a Gold Sponsor of the 2008 Canada-wide Science Fair and played 
a major role in organizing and implementing this successful event in Ottawa. The 
Museum hosted a “Hands-On Science” afternoon for students at its Natural Heritage 
Building while the Victoria Memorial Museum Building served as one of the main 
Science Fair venues.

n To support the development of public policy on natural history issues, the 
Museum’s Canadian Centre for Biodiversity (CCB) worked closely with Canadian 
and international authorities to establish guidance and legislation on nature-related 
subjects. The CCB coordinated several international projects under the auspices of 
the International Union for the Conservation of Nature (IUCN) including the 2008 
IUCN Resolution on Global Strategy for Plant Conservation.  

Provide vehicles to encourage public engagement in  
natural history issues and to contribute to informed  
public policy on those issues.

O B J E C T I V E
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Develop and implement formal mechanisms to inform  
public policy on natural history issues .
n Under its new Strategic Plan, the Museum will continue to refine and expand its 

role as a responsible advocate for nature, both in the development of public policy 
and in the education and engagement of Canadians on matters of importance to the 
natural environment. The power and value of this advocacy role is demonstrated 
by the Museum’s work with three Outaouais school boards and the University of 
Ottawa’s Department of Education to develop a teacher training strategy on bio-
diversity and to introduce butterfly gardens into primary level classrooms.

Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

New forums developed, implemented and made  
accessible to encourage engagement of Canadians

Develop two (2) new forums during 2008-2009 Four new forums were developed; A dark fibre con-
nection from CANARIE’s network to the VMMB to allow 
linkage to other institutions; a website for the ANHMC; 
the Polar Perspective youth-forums and public 
lectures; and, the Canadian Outreach Guide to Plant 
Biodiversity Education website

Museum provides expertise to assist in the  
development of public policy

Contribute to 20 national and international  
organizations

The Museum has contributed to 15 associations 
related to environmental change 

Museum activities provide expertise to assist in the 
development of public policy options

Museum is active in two (2) activities that will provide 
options on public policy

This year, the Museum developed public policy  
options with the Canadian Centre for Biodiversity  
and with the ANHMC

P e r f o r M a n C e  a G a I n S T  o b J C T I v e S  I n  2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9

Palaeontologist Dr. Steve Cumbaa shows a fossil from the Museum’s collections to participants of the 2008 
Canada-wide Science fair.
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An HR framework and the necessary HR tools will be in place to support the Museum’s business strategy . A majority of  

projects will be undertaken with partners . the Museum will provide a supportive working environment with opportunities 

for innovation and growth .

With internal stakeholders, the Museum continues to explore and develop ways to 
make the working environment attractive and productive. With external stakeholders, 
the Museum seeks opportunities to increase the number of people it benefits and its 
geographic reach. In both instances, emphasis on collaborative, cooperative practices has 
led to tangible achievements.

through the application of the competency-based pro-
cess, improve the ability of the Museum staff to work in 
integrated approaches such as partnerships, networks 
and multi-disciplinary teams .
n Within the Museum, partnerships, networks and multi-disciplinary teams were 

established to achieve the organization’s objectives. The development of the new 
five-year Strategic Plan demonstrated the power of an integrated approach and 
saw Museum teams engaging experts and stakeholders in a process of analysis and 
discovery. The resulting Strategic/Corporate Plan reflects the involvement of and 
contributions from the majority of the Museum’s employees.

Apply the partnership framework to assess current  
partnerships and to modify partnership arrangements  
as required .
n Its ability to create larger public value through participation in networks, alliances 

and other forms of partnership is a key feature of the Museum’s model for national 
service. In working with numerous external groups, the Museum has defined and 
refined its partnership framework and is in the process of evaluating each of its relation-
ships to enhance the contribution of the Museum and to assess the value produced.

Develop the Museum’s internal capacity to work  
in integrated, collaborative approaches.

O B J E C T I V E
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Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

Professional development days undertaken by staff 4 days of professional development per employee 3.74 days per employee which is slightly lower than 
the target

New partnerships undertaken Increase partnership value by achieving 75% of 
desired criteria by 2012-2013

The one partnership assessed, with Students on Ice 
expeditions, achieved a score of 100%
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the Victoria Memorial Museum Building will remain open to the public as much as possible throughout the project and will 

be recognized for its exemplary safety record during the renovation . the contribution of the renovated Victoria Memorial 

Museum Building will be clearly visible to visitors, the museum community, staff and the Museum’s local geographic com-

munity . the Museum will develop a post-renewal programme plan, utilizing its renovated facility to support leading-edge 

enhancements to the Museum programming . 

Implement the rehabilitation of the Victoria Memorial  
Museum Building infrastructure requirements, design 
and construction .
The five-year project to renew the Victoria Memorial Museum Building has created many 
challenges for Museum staff and visitors alike. Completion of the first phase, the West 
Wing in October 2006 was an important event that allowed for the unveiling of the first 
of the wonderfully restored gallery spaces and three new signature exhibitions. Following 
the reopening of the West Wing, construction shifted to the Central Core and the East 
Wing areas, and to the splendid new glass Lantern feature.

n The Renewal Project remains within budget and Phases 4 and 5 of the Project are on 
track for completion for the opening of the fully renovated Museum in May 2010. 

ensure the Renewal project is implemented according  
to the principles of the new vision .
n Preliminary design of the new East Wing Earth Gallery was completed, as was the 

design and marketing plan for the Water Gallery. These new galleries coupled with 
the three already opened and the new visitor amenities will secure the Museum’s 
status as a key attraction in the National Capital Region. The new positioning strat-
egy for the Victoria Memorial Museum Building is a key element of the Museum’s 
integrated marketing plan to increase consumer awareness, raise attendance levels, 
and create a strong and positive Canadian Museum of Nature brand.

Ensure that the Victoria Memorial Museum Building  
Renewal Project furthers the vision.

O B J E C T I V E
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Maintain a base level of programming and visitor services 
at the Victoria Memorial Museum Building during the 
Renewal project to ensure that the Museum and the 
Victoria Memorial Museum Building remain visible and 
that the local audience is retained .
The Museum has remained open throughout construction (except for very short inter-
vals) and base level programming and visitor services have been maintained. As evidence 
of the Renewal Project’s achievements to date, the number of visitors to the Museum has 
increased, as have revenues. 

The Museum is on track to achieve pre-renovation attendance levels with only half  
the building open to the public. Admissions for 2008-2009, were 2 percent higher  
than the previous year. Contributing to the increased number of visitors has been 
the heightened public interest in the environment and the superb quality of the new  
signature exhibitions, including the Talisman Energy Fossil Gallery, the Bird Gallery, 
and the Mammal Gallery. Attendance is expected to remain stable in 2009-2010 and 
increase significantly in 2010-2011, following the grand reopening of the fully renovated 
Museum in May 2010.

Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

VMMB physical and programming renovation  
completed on schedule

Phases 4 and 5 of the project reach completion in 
2009-2010

Phases 4 and 5 are on schedule for completion in 
2009-2010

Number of visitors to the Museum galleries Maintain an attendance level appropriate to the site 
conditions

241,860 visits to the VMMB and 1,314 visits to the NHB

Market share of visitors to national museums in the 
National Capital Region

Maintain a market share of 15% by the end of  
2012-2013

Average market share of 8.2%

Local Attendance 
(after-hour, open-hour, NHB, NCR)
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visitors of all ages enjoy the touch-screen computers in the galleries, which enhance the learning experience.
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the long-term goal is for the Museum to have operations and maintenance programmes in place for its buildings that sustain 

these assets throughout their planned life and meet accepted best practices for museums . the Museum will meet or exceed 

best practices for the following Facilities Management Services: space management, parking, audio-visual, and other related 

technical facilities services . Annual planning will be fully integrated and a natural extension of the multi-year planning cycle . 

A 50 percent reduction in planning time from 2004-2005 levels will be achieved . the Museum will have an effective and 

efficient infrastructure of It Systems and Services . the Museum will have a series of financial management services and a 

series of human resources activities that support its operational and business plans . the Museum will have an integrated 

market research programme and process .

Administer real property effectively and efficiently .
n The Museum realized significant progress in improving conditions at the Natural 

Heritage Building, in large part due to $2.8 million in federal funds provided for 
urgent health and safety repairs to its Gatineau facility. The funding has been applied 
to a four-year capital repair programme, now in its second year. More than 50 percent 
of planned projects are completed and most others are ongoing or scheduled to be 
executed within the next fiscal year.

n Through the Strategic Review and the 2008 federal budget, the Government of 
Canada approved $20.6 million in additional funding primarily for infrastructure 
pressures over the next five years. This funding is greatly appreciated and allows the 
Museum to establish a planned capital repair programme for the Natural Heritage 
Building in order to address major repairs to building systems, the building enve-
lope, and site conditions. 

n As identified in its 2003 Treasury Board submission for the Victoria Memorial 
Museum Building Renewal Project, the Museum is facing an annual funding short-
fall of $2.2 million to operate and maintain the new spaces, environmental control 
systems and to pay increased taxes at the Victoria Memorial Museum Building once 
it is fully renovated and commissioned. The Museum continues to work with the 
Government of Canada to find a long-term solution to this serious issue. 

Maintain and improve an effective and efficient  
infrastructure of systems and facilities.

O B J E C T I V E
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Develop, adapt and streamline management and  
planning processes and services to support the  
Museum’s vision .
Throughout the year, the Museum continued to review and refine its management prac-
tices and to streamline its operating systems and processes. As a result, operating costs 
and expenditures continue to be controlled while the quality of service has been largely 
maintained. To achieve this balance, the Museum has instituted several new initiatives, 
including maintenance outsourcing and increased levels of transparency and public  
accountability. Work to adopt new accounting standards is also underway. 

n Outsourcing to the private sector of building operations and maintenance for the 
Victoria Memorial Museum Building and the Natural Heritage Building, which 
began in April 2008, is already resulting in savings. In addition, a new Computer 
Aided Maintenance Management system will assist with preventive and corrective 
maintenance planning and implementation to allow the Museum to optimize 
maintenance activities while extending the operational life of its assets.

n As part of its public accountability programme, the Museum held its 2nd Annual 
Public Meeting at the Victoria Memorial Museum Building in September 2008.  
It also started planning and analysing the impact of the required conversion from 
Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles to International Financial 
Reporting Standards for the 2011-2012 fiscal year.

n The Museum continued to work to ensure a robust corporate governance system for 
the institution, including quarterly meetings of the Board of Trustees. In this capacity 
the Board continued to provide strategic direction to the corporation, exercised its 
fiduciary role, oversaw the renovation of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building, 
and participated in the development of the new Strategic Plan. 

Maintain and improve Museum information management 
systems and services .
The Museum continued to develop and improve its information technology services and 
capabilities by replacing outdated systems and implementing new functionality.

n The Museum’s information management systems and services were enhanced by the 
replacement of the Museum’s aging telephone system with a new PBX voice system 
that can readily be migrated to a Voice-over-IP protocol in the future. The new 
system is expected to reduce telecommunication costs while increasing the quality  
of voice services.

n To increase customer access to the Museum, the development of an e-commerce 
application was initiated to provide customers with an easy-to-use internet outlet 
for purchasing gifts and products from the Museum’s Publications Catalogue and 
on-line gift store.
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Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

Operating and maintenance costs per gross square 
metre (see figure below)

Meet or exceed the recognized and accepted industry 
standard for museums

The NHB is operating at a cost of $77.16 per square 
metre – 58% of the cost of similar facilities

Integrate strategic and operational planning 
processes

50% reduction in time spent on planning by  
2012-2013

Time spent on planning varies from year to year due to 
special circumstances; therefore comparable data are 
not available to calculate the reduction achieved

Cost per user $3.24 per user (including Web users) and $9.96 per 
user (when excluding Web users)

$5.61 (including Web users) and $12.49 (excluding 
Web users) 

Information management systems performance Fifteen global performance standards and metrics are 
measured in the IT/IM Systems Scorecard

Majority of service standards met or exceeded. Areas 
of risk are being addressed

operating and Maintenance Costs per Gross Square Metre

Cost / square metre 
(uS$)

CMn / nhb CMn / vMMb average for  
archival facilities 
(2007)

average for 
natural history 
facilities (2007)

average for  
Same-size  
facilities (2007)

Total Operating costs 81.51* 77.16* 212.02 132.12 132.28

*  2007 costs: Every second year, the Museum participates in a survey of the International Association of Museum Facilities Administrators which compiles data on performance 
measurements, practices and industry trends in the management of museum facilities.

n The replacement of the entire network switching and Uninterruptible Power Supply 
(UPS) infrastructure at the Natural Heritage Building has brought the network standard 
to the same level as that of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. As a result, the 
Museum’s business continuity and disaster recovery capabilities have been signifi-
cantly enhanced.

n Deployment of new facilities management, service desk and library software applica-
tions all provided increased performance and efficiency for different areas within the 
Museum. These applications provided Museum staff with greater access to timely 
information needed for delivery of internal and external client services.

P e r f o r M a n C e  a G a I n S T  o b J C T I v e S  I n  2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9
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the Natural Partnerships Campaign goals will be achieved . plans will be developed for full integration of the campaign into an 

ongoing fundraising and development programme . the Museum will have a budget for its fixed infrastructure costs that allows 

for prudent investment and well-managed implementation of its long term Capital plan and maintenance of infrastructure .

Build a strong philanthropic base of support for the 
Museum by identifying and securing private and public 
sponsorships, partnerships, alliances and donations .
The Museum continued to build a strong philanthropic base of support through  
private and public sponsorships, partnerships, alliances and donations. 

n Total pledged to the Natural Partnerships Campaign to date is $9.3 million. These 
funds are essential to the Museum’s ability to develop new galleries, exhibitions and 
other public programmes. 

n The Museum continues to pursue opportunities to work with the private sector in 
securing support for its various programmes and exhibitions. Negotiations continued 
with several large corporations for sponsorship of Museum programmes and exhibitions.

n The challenging economic downturn has forced the Museum to revise its interim 
targets for fundraising. Nevertheless, the Museum aspires to fulfill the current 
Natural Partnerships Campaign objective by 2011. 

n In 2008-2009, a variety of offerings were developed to encourage membership in the 
Canadian Museum of Nature. A membership sales campaign was launched in the 
fall of 2008 featuring a unique set of Trading Cards; the Birds of Canada and a third 
season was initiated for the High-Definition film Armchair Traveller Series. A new 
Annual Pass was added to the membership categories and although Membership 
renewals have declined by 28.8 percent, revenues remain strong and are just under 
target by 4.73 percent. A new membership strategy is presently being developed to 
co-incide with the grand reopening in 2010.

Increase the Museum’s self-generated revenues.

O B J E C T I V E
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Develop and implement strategies to generate revenue 
across all relevant business lines of the Museum .
n The Museum completed an in-depth review of revenue generating opportunities, and 

prepared for the Minister of Canadian Heritage and Official Languages a “Revenue 
Generation Framework” report. The Museum’s goal is to increase earned and contri -
buted revenue to fund 15 percent of its operating budget by 2011-2012. The report 
identifies specific strategies and initiatives to achieve this target.

n This year, the self-generated revenues exceeded the annual target by 43 percent and 
generated revenues from admissions exceeded targets slightly by 1 percent, largely 
due to attendance levels that have grown in response to the stimulating new galleries 
and programmes on offer in the restored West Wing of the Victoria Memorial 
Museum Building. 

n As part of the revenue generation strategy, the Museum continued to explore oppor-
tunities to establish new revenue generating partnerships, licensing agreements or to 
provide cost recovery services. For example, the Museum continues to work closely 
with CineMuse to develop specialized shows for the zoo and aquarium market.

n Intellectual Property material, especially visual material, was licensed to 35 external 
clients this past year, generating revenue and increasing the Museum’s visibility to 
the public. The material was used for television productions by Radio-Canada, CBC, 
TFO and NHK (Japan’s national television network). Images were also published 
in magazines, scientific and technical papers and trade publications from Canada, 
United States, France and England. Museums such as the American Museum of 
Natural History, the Royal Ontario Museum, the Ontario Science Centre and le 
Musée d’archéologie et d’histoire de Montréal were granted permission to reproduce 
images and video material from the Museum’s collection. The IP Office is currently 
re-organizing the photo collection and developing a database to manage IP requests 
from internal and external clients. This new system should be in place by the end of 
next fiscal year.

Seek funding solutions for facilities operations and  
capital expenses .
n The Museum continued to work with the Government of Canada to seek a long-term 

solution to its shortfall in facilities operating funds. The Government’s commitment in 
Budget 2008 of additional funds primarily for infrastructure pressures has provided 
some relief in one critical area. The Museum continues to work with government 
to develop a solution to address the $2.2 million shortfall in operating funds that is 
expected once the fully restored Victoria Memorial Museum Building opens to the 
public in May 2010.

Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

Results of fundraising efforts Raise $2,103,000 in 2008-2009 $1.3 million was raised in 2008-2009 and $764,000 
was recognized as revenue 

Total amount of generated revenue Generate $1,873,000 in 2008-2009 $2.7 million 

Per visitor gross sales income $4.76 per visitor by 2012-2013 $4.87 per visitor

Revenue Growth/Performance
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As a result of far reaching survey work on a broad Canadian audience, the Museum formulated a Strategic plan for 2003-2004 

to 2007-2008 . Fiscal 2008-2009 will be a transition year in which the Museum defines the new Strategic plan and the steps 

required for implementation in 2009-2014 .

Develop the Strategic plan for 2009-2014 .
n In March, the Museum’s new Strategic Plan for 2009-2014 received approval from 

the Board of Trustees and from the Government of Canada. The new plan, entitled 
“Connecting for Nature,” sees the Museum becoming an advocate for Canada’s 
natural environment and being a trusted source of information about the country’s 
natural heritage.

Develop the implementation plan .
n Following Board of Trustees’ approval of the new Strategic Plan, the Museum im-

mediately defined the implementation plan for 2009-2010. The plan identifies key 
priorities and actions for the coming fiscal year. Priorities for 2009-2010 include:

n Completing the Victoria Memorial Museum Building Renewal Project;

n Developing strategies that will define the new directions contained in the 
Museum’s new Strategic Plan, particularly with respect to the Museum’s role as 
an advocate for nature and encouraging environmental responsibility through 
scientific discovery and debate; 

n Achieving financial stability and maximizing revenue; and

n Increasing the Museum’s national service and benefit.

Define the Strategic Plan and the corresponding  
implementation plan for 2009-2014.

O B J E C T I V E
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Develop the performance management framework .
n The Museum worked with the Department of Canadian Heritage to develop perfor-

mance measures common to Canada’s national museums. The project contributed 
some performance management elements to the Museum’s new Corporate Plan and 
provided all parties with a better understanding of the challenges and expectations 
facing the country’s national museums.

Performance Measures Targets 2008-2009 achievements

The Strategic Plan for 2009-2014 is defined The Strategic Plan is finalized and the first phase is 
implemented in 2009-2010

The Strategic Plan has been finalized and implementa-
tion has started

New objectives and strategies are in place New objectives and strategies respond to the national 
stakeholder input

New objectives and strategies have been formulated in 
response to stakeholder input

P e r f o r M a n C e  a G a I n S T  o b J C T I v e S  I n  2 0 0 8 - 2 0 0 9

view of the Geee! in Genome national travelling exhibition. 

Ph
ot

o:
 M

ar
ti

n 
Li

pm
an



C O N T R I B U T I N G  T O  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  P O L A R  Y E A R3 0

Our People
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Board of Trustees

o u r  P e o P L e

the Board of trustees is the Museum’s governing body, responsible to parliament 

through the Minister of Canadian Heritage and official languages . the 11 members 

are Governor-in-Council appointees from all regions of Canada . through accountability 

and strategic policy and planning frameworks, the Board provides corporate direc-

tion and delegates authority to the president for the management of the Museum . 

In 2008-2009, the Board met five times . twenty-seven meetings of the Committees  

of the Board were held either in person or by conference call and two special 

meetings were held by conference call . 

� Standing Committees
executive Committee
R. Kenneth Armstrong, Chair
Mandate: The Executive Committee is responsible for maintaining an overview 
of the activities of the Board of Trustees and its Standing Committees and for 
conducting the President’s annual performance review. The Executive Committee 
acts on behalf of the Board between meetings in accordance with Board policy.

Audit and Finance Committee
Martin Joanisse, Chair
Mandate: The Audit and Finance Committee is responsible for overseeing the 
Canadian Museum of Nature’s standards of integrity and behaviour, the 
integrity and credibility of the Museum’s financial reports, and the systems  
and practices of internal control.

Community and Government Relations Committee
Teresa MacNeil, Chair (until June 18, 2008) 
Chris Nelson, Chair (effective September 25, 2008)
Mandate: The Community and Government Relations Committee is responsible 
for raising and sustaining in the national community a positive awareness of 
the Canadian Museum of Nature, its services and its contributions, and for 
developing a strategy to support the Museum’s efforts to generate revenue.

nominating Committee
Dana Hanson, Chair
Mandate: The Nominating Committee is responsible for Board and Trustee 
assessment and training, and for recommending individuals to be nominated 
for appointment or reappointment as Trustees, in accordance with the Treasury 
Board appointment process for Crown corporations.

Committee of the Whole Board
Henry Tom, Chair
Mandate: The purpose of the Committee of the Whole is to provide an opportunity 
for all Board members to be involved in presentations, discussions and decisions 
with respect to the Victoria Memorial Museum Building Renewal Project.

� board of Trustees
R . Kenneth Armstrong, o .M .C . 
Chair, Peterborough, Ontario

Dana Hanson, M .D .
Vice-Chair, Fredericton, New Brunswick
lise des Greniers 
Granby, Quebec

Martin Joanisse 
Gatineau, Quebec

teresa Macneil, o .C . 
Johnstown, Nova Scotia 
(until June 18, 2008)

Melody Mcleod 
Yellowknife, Northwest Territories

Mark Muise 
Yarmouth, Nova Scotia 
(effective June 18, 2008)

erin Rankin nash 
London, Ontario

Chris nelson 
Ottawa, Ontario

Harold Robinson 
Edmonton, Alberta

Henry tom 
Vancouver, British Columbia

Jeffrey A . turner 
Manotick, Ontario

Irene Byrne 
Corporate Secretary

� executive Staff
Joanne DiCosimo 
President and Chief Executive Officer

Maureen Dougan 
Vice-President, Corporate Services 
and Chief Operating Officer

� Management Team
Roger Baird 
Director, Collections Services

Marc Chrétien 
Manager, Facilities Management 
Services

Kimberley Curran 
Director, Natural Partnerships 
Campaign

Mark Graham 
Director, Research Services

Denyse Jomphe 
Director, Human Resources Services

lynne ladouceur 
Director, Financial Management 
Services

Marie lasnier 
Manager, Community Services

elizabeth McCrea 
Manager, Communications Services

Monty Reid 
Manager, Exhibitions Services

Greg Smith 
Manager, Information Technology 
and Library Services

Maria Somjen 
Project Director, VMMB Renewal 
Project
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� Collections 
Services
Roger Baird
Micheline Beaulieu-
Bouchard

Paul Bloskie
Nancy Boase
Annie Carbonneau
Luci Cipera
Wilda Corcoran
Jennifer Doubt
Margaret Feuerstack
Peter Frank
Dr. Jean-Marc Gagnon
François Génier
Michel Gosselin
Clayton Kennedy
Kamal Khidas
Marcie Kwidt
Sylvie Laframboise
Carolyn Leckie
Garnet Muething
Michel Picard
Judith Price
Kieran Shepherd
Laura Smyk
Michèle Steigerwald
Alexander Tirabasso
Dr. Robert Waller
Pak Yau Wong

� Communications
Services
Agnès Chartrand
Marissa Croteau
Lucille Fournier
Caroline Genet
Carole LeBlond
Elizabeth McCrea
Davina Pearl
Pierre Poirier
Lorna Sierolawski
Daniel Smythe
Laura Sutin

� Community 
Services
Suzanne Allyson 
Morello

Luc Barbe
Nathalie Benoit
Kate Beresford
Anik Boileau
Mara Bousse
Anthony Braganza
Nicolas Campione
Christina Carnovale
Nathalie Carter
Nathalie Cellard
Tara Conroy
John Constantinesco
Anne-Marie Côté
Jason Coyle
Sara Cowell
Annick Deblois
Simon Desmarais
Marc Diotte
Cindy Fedoryk
Elizabeth Fortin
Véronique Gaboury- 
Bonhomme

Julie Gardner
Laetitia Habimana
Cynthia Iburg
Philippe Kowalski
John Kubicek
Annie Langlois
Caroline Larocque
Guy Larocque
Marie Lasnier
Doris Launier
Evelyne Laurin
Katharine Lepora
Eric Lizotte
Claire Barbara  
Macarthur

Jennifer Mason
Diane Mongrain
Renisha Nadarajah
Kimberly Newman

Marie Noland
Joanna Northover
Lyanne Payette
Richard Petitpas
Diane Picard
Gabriel Potvin
Gilles Proulx
Julien Racette
Sophia Reilly 
Johanne Robin
Nathalie Rodrigue
Michaela Roenspies
Jacky Rollin
Louis-René Sénéchal
Samantha Somers
Stephanie Tak
Dahlia Tanasoiu
Roxanne Templeton

� Development 
and fundraising  
Services
Debra Beattie
Kimberley Curran
Cécile Julien
Linda Kincaid
Myriam Lacasse
Risë Paquette 
Sophie Poirier

� Directorate
Irene Byrne
Josée Damboise
Joanne DiCosimo
Maureen Dougan
Annie St-Jean
Louise Winter

� exhibition 
Services
Stuart Baatnes
Marc Beck
Daniel Boivin
Carol Campbell
Joseph Dullemond

Nicole Dupuis
Jonathan Ferrabee
Gerben Gazendam
Rachel Gervais
Mariana Lafrance
Caroline Lanthier
Robert Leuenberger
Marie-Claire Payette
Monty Reid
Joanne Sparks
Susan Swan
Annie Thérien
Carol Thiessen
Stacey Eliza Tidman

� facilities
Management 
Services
Marc Chrétien
Darrell Daniels
André Fortier
Alain Gendron
Heather Hutt
Mario Lacasse
Martin Leclerc
Nelson Mercier
Patrick Minns
Laura Rhodes
Martin Roussel
France Roy
Pascale Sénéchal

� financial
Management 
Services
Tony Badmus
France Fabien
Diane Faucher
Max Joly
Lynne Ladouceur
Thérèse Mitrow
Liane Monette
Lise Rochon
Jacynthe Roy

� human 
resources 
Management 
Services
Louisa Bouchard
Katherine Day
Kim de Grandpré
Roger Demers
Denyse Jomphe
Antoinette Martin
Suzanne Sauvé
Lucille Thomas

� IT & Library 
Services
Rachelle Bergen
Andrée Bisson
Anne-Marie Botman
Francine Bouvier-
Goodman

Steven Russel Brooks
Dominique Dufour
Chantal Dussault
Janice Gillis
Richard Martin
Nicole Paquette
Kathleen Quinn
Barbara Rottenberg
Gregory Smith
Patrice Stevenson
Ted Sypniewski
Luc Villeneuve
Michael Wayne

� renewal Project
Ronald Christoffer
Joanne Desnoyers
Franziska Dubach
Samia Messaoudi
Xavier Rankin
Alan McDonald
Maria Somjen

� research 
Services
Noel Alfonso
Dr. Robert Anderson
Lory Beaudoin
Alain S. Bélanger
Anne Breau
Roger Bull
Dr. Brian W. Coad
Dr. Kathleen Conlan
Dr. Laurie Consaul
Dr. Stephen Cumbaa
Richard Day
Quinn Eggertson
Dr. Scott Ercit
Dominique Marcil 
Ferland

Simon Génier
Marisa Gilbert
Dr. Lynn Gillespie
Susan Goods
Dr. Mark Graham
Dr. Joel Grice
Paul Hamilton
Ed Hendrycks
Jean Lauriault
Jacqueline Madill
Dr. André Martel
Donna Naughton
Dr. Paula Piilonen
Glenn Poirier
Dr. Michel Poulin
Dr. Claude Renaud
Katja Rodriquez
Ralph Rowe
Dr. Natalia Rybczynski
Dr. Jeffery Saarela
Wayne Sawtell
Dr. Andrew Smith
Dr. Julain Starr
Dr. Kathlyn Stewart
Dr. Xiao-chun Wu

the following list includes all employees who have contributed to the Museum’s 

achievements in 2008-2009 .

Staff 
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Victor Adomaitis 
Colette Anfossi
Melba Angell
Louise Aronoff 
Beverley Armstrong
Lorne Atchison
Dennis Bason
Renée Beaton
Lynda Beaudoin
Emily Beckett
Stéphanie Bellefeuille 
Karyne Bellehumeur
Jean-Marie Bergeron
Amanda Bernard
Nancy Binnie
Richard Boisclair
Irène Boucher
Alexander Bourassa
Pat Bowen
Colin Bowen
Meghan Bowie
Carole Brown
Doug Bryce
Annie Carbonneau
Laurence Carbonneau
Zoë Carmody
Suzanne Carr
Maggie Case
Nakul Chandan

Stephanie Chapman
Camelia Chiujdea
Hyuo Keen Cho
Kathy Chow
Stéphanie Chrétien
Adam Clough
Heather Coffey
Christiane Cooper
Martine Couture
Dale Crichton
Verna Crossman
Thomas Cullen
Rachel Cunningham
Claire Cyr
Marie D’Aoust
Yemisi Dare
Nicky Davis
Guillaume de Brouwer
Suzanne de Sève
Anthony Denton 
Gretchen Denton
Mireille Deussing 
Larry Dyke
Sheila Edwards
Victoria Fisher
Colin Freebury
Andy Fytche
Huguette Gavrel
Carol German

Tammy Gillis
Ian Gorlick
Virginia Grant
Kelly Gregoire
Tabitha Grove
Gilles Gélinas
Ashley Hale
Adeline Hardie
Gail Harington
April Hurst
André Jauvin
Betty Johnston
Melissa Juergensen
Sol Kaiman
Lynn Kaplansky
Thamila Khidas
Elizabeth Kirby
Ruth Koch-Schulte
Cansu Koç
Geoffrey Lachapelle 
Jacqueline Lafontaine
Marc Lalande
David Lamperd
Anne Lapèlerie
Lorraine Larabie
Caroline Larocque
Anne Laybolt
Judy Leeson
Lyse Lemay

Diane Lemieux
Hao Li
Barbara Liddy
Monika Lieberenz
Megan Lindeman-Kelly
Heather Lindsay
Martin Lipman
Lindsay Lotan
Nicole Lupien
Claire MacArthur
Mollie MacCormac
Sarah Makuza
Pat Martin
Philip Martin
Sara Martin
Tamara Martinez
Jan Mayes
Elizabeth McMillan
Ken McMillan
Peter Miller
Travis Mitchell
Valerio Moglie
Daniel Mooney
Veronica Mossop
Judith Murillo
Kirusha Naidu
Arlene Neilson
François Nguyen
Joanna Northover

Michelle Nugent
Jordanna Ostrega
Valérie Pageau
Sierra Palaniyandi
Michel Paradis
Yvette Paskovich
Dawn Paszkowski
Dale Patten
Emma Peacocke
Frances Pearl
Kishu Pharasi
Amélie Picard
Kellie Piché
Lauren Pinault
Lise Plamondon
Donald Potts
Brigitte Potvin
Pauline Poulin
Barry Read
Tessa Roselli
Justin Rousseau
Joan Rowed
Yvon Roy
Susan Rust
Beverly Sawchuk
Lisa Schur
Ruth Secunda
Olivia Seillier
John Sharpe

Andrea Simard
Jennifer Small
Kristen Soo
Jane Staples
Frances Stewart
Nadine Strauss
Alice Szymanski
Pragati Taran
Elias Taylor
Catherine Temple
Anh Thuy Thai
Jennifer Theoret
Joshua Tobias
Ted Tozer
Wayne Van De Graaff 
Crystal Vincent
Clare Wang
Nicole Wang
Kyle Weinkauf
Kaitlin Wilson
Lesley Winkelaar
Paul Wise
Roy Wood
Elizabeth Woodbury 

Volunteers continue to play an important role for the Canadian Museum of nature . 

their ongoing support, enthusiasm and countless hours of dedication are very 

much appreciated . this year, 169 volunteers have contributed over 8400 hours 

of service .

Volunteers

o u r  P e o P L e
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Communicating Research Results
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Research Services and Collections Services Staff

Museum staff published 82 articles in refereed journals – which have other  

scientists review all articles submitted before they are accepted for publication 

– and 37 in non-refereed publications . Museum staff also published a selection  

of books, reports and other papers . A complete list follows (names in boldface 

are Museum staff members) . publications are listed in the language in which they 

were written .

� refereed Publications
Anderson, R .S . 2008. A new species of flightless Hadromeropsis from the 
Colombian páramo (Coleoptera: Curculionidae; Entiminae; Tanymecini). Zootaxa, 
1879:65-68.

Anderson, R .S . 2008. A review of the Neotropical genus Alloscolytroproctus 
Hustache, 1929 (Coleoptera; Curculionidae; Dryophthorinae). Zootaxa, 1816:35-43.

Anderson, R .S . 2008. A review of the Neotropical genus Eucalandra Faust, 1899 
(Coleoptera; Curculionidae; Dryophthorinae). Zootaxa, 1791:57-67.

Anderson, R .S . 2008. A review of the genus Eubulus Kirsch 1869 of North America 
(Curculionidae; Cryptorhynchinae). The Coleopterists Bulletin, 62:287-296.

Paquin, P. and R .S . Anderson. 2009. The first troglobitic weevil (Coleoptera: 
Curculionidae) in North America? Description of a new eyeless species of 
Lymantes Schoenherr from Central Texas caves. Pp. 115-123. In J.R. Reddell 
and J.C. Cokendolpher, Eds., Studies on the cave and endogean fauna of North 
America V. Texas Memorial Museum, Speleological Monographs, 7.

Santiago-Blay, J.A., B.C. Ratcliffe, F.-T. Krell and R .S . Anderson. 2008. Allotypes 
should be from the type series: a position paper for reinstating Recommendation 
72A from the third edition of the Code that defines the term ‘allotype’. Bulletin 
of Zoological Nomenclature, 65(4):260-264. 

Coad, B .W ., R. Mehrani, N. Najafpour. 2009. Threatened fishes of the world: 
Paracobitis smithi (Greenwood, 1976) (Balitoridae). Environmental Biology of 
Fishes, 84(3):323.

Abell, R., M.L. Thieme, C. Revenga, M. Bryer, M. Kottelat, N. Bogutskaya,  
B .W . Coad, N. Mandrak, S.C Balderas, W. Bussing, M.L.J. Stiassny, P. Skelton, 
G.R. Allen, P. Unmack, A. Naseka, R. Ng, N. Sindorf, J. Robertson, E. Armijo,  
J.V. Higgins, T.J. Heibel, E. Wikramanayake, D. Olson, H.L. López, R.E. Reis,  
J.G. Lundberg, M.H.S Pérez and P. Petry. 2008. Freshwater Ecoregions of the 
World: A new map of biogeographic units for freshwater biodiversity conser-
vation. BioScience, 58(5):403-413.

Sargeran, P., M. Bakhtiyari, A. Abdoli, B .W . Coad, K. Sarvi, M.R. Lishi and 
A Hajimoradloo. 2008. The endemic Iranian cave-fish, Iranocypris typhlops: 
two taxa or two forms based on the mental disc? Zoology in the Middle East, 
44:67-74.

Vilenkin, B.Y., V.I. Chikatunov, B .W . Coad and A.A. Schileyko. 2009. A random 
process may control the number of endemic species. Biologia, Bratislava, 
64(1):107-112.

Esmaeili, H.R., A. Teimory, B .W . Coad and Z. Gholami. 2008. Threatened fishes 
of the world: Cobitis linea (Heckel, 1849). Environmental Biology of Fishes, 
83(4):407-408.

Esmaeili, H.R., A. Teimory, B .W . Coad and Z. Gholami. 2009. Threatened fishes 
of the world: Seminemacheilus tongiorgii Nalbant and Bianco, 1998 (Balitoridae). 
Environmental Biology of Fishes, 84(4):375. 

Conlan, K .e ., A. Aitken, e .A . Hendrycks, H. Melling and C. McClelland. 2008. 
Distribution patterns of Canadian Beaufort Shelf macrobenthos. Journal of 
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Jeff Saarela and Laurie Consaul pressing plants in yellowknife, northwest Territories.
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Donors, Partners, Sponsors

the generous support and involvement of donors, partners and sponsors helps 

the Museum connect people with nature through exhibitions, educational  

programmes and scientific research .
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Karen Wright, Ottawa, Ontario
Gabriel Zafiu, Ottawa, Ontario
Victor Zagorskiy, Russia

I n v o L v I n G  T h e  C o M M u n I T y
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Collaborators

Collaborators are organizations such as universities, research institutions, 

museums or government agencies that work with the Museum on a range of 

projects including research and collections-related activities, programming and 

exhibitions . these affiliations are part of the Museum’s regional, national and 

international network, allowing the Museum to share its resources with others 

and enhance its effectiveness in connecting people with nature .

� International
Alfred Wegener Institute, Bremerhaven, Germany

American Association of Museums, 
Washington, D.C.

American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland

American Museum of natural History, 
New York City, New York

American Society of plant taxonomists, 
Laramie, Wyoming

Birkbeck College, university of london, 
London, UK

Botanic Gardens Conservation International, 
Surrey, United Kingdom

California State university, Los Angeles, California

Carnegie Museum, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

Center for Applied Biosciences, Freiburg, Germany 

Centre for Isotope Research, university of  
Groningen, Groningen, Netherlands

Chinese Academy of Geological Sciences, 
Beijing, China

CineMuse Inc ., New York City, New York

Cleveland Museum of natural History, 
Cleveland, Ohio

Comisión Forestal de Michaocán, Mexico

Comisión nacional de Áreas naturales protegidas, 
Distrito Federal, Mexico

Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna (CAFF), 
Akureyri, Iceland

Consortium for the Barcode of life, Washington, D.C.

Cornell university, Ithaca, New York

CSIRo entomology, Canberra, Australia

Depaul university, Chicago, Illinois

Duke university, Durham, North Carolina

explore-at-Bristol, Bristol, United Kingdom

Food and Agriculture organization of the  
united nations, Rome, Italy

Forschungsinstitut Senckenberg, 
Wilhelmshaven, Germany

Geological Institute, Chinese Academy  
of Geological Sciences, Beijing, China 

Getty Conservation Institute, 
Los Angeles, California

Global Biodiversity Information Facility, 
Copenhagen, Denmark

Global taxonomy Initiative, Montreal, Quebec

Göteborg university, Göteborg, Sweden

Harvard university, Cambridge, Massachusetts

Inner Mongolia Museum, Huhehaote, China

Institut Collective nederland (ICn), 
Amsterdam, Netherlands

Institute de ecologia, A .C . Xalapa, 
Veracruz, Mexico

Institute nacional de Biodiversidad, 
Santo Domingo, Costa Rica

Institute of Vertebrate paleontology and  
paleo-anthropology, Chinese Academy 
of Sciences, China

Instituut Collectie nederland (ICn), 
Amsterdam, Netherlands

International Centre for Conservation in Rome  
(ICCRoM), Rome, Italy

International Society for Diatom Research, 
London, United Kingdom

IuCn – the World Conservation union, 
Gland, Switzerland

IuCn Commission on education and  
Communication, Gland, Switzerland

Kyoto university, Kyoto, Japan

laboratoire Arago, Banyuls-sur-mer, France

leiden university, Leiden, Netherlands

liberty Science Center, Jersey City, New Jersey

lincoln university, Christchurch, New Zealand

lufeng Dinosaur Museum, Yunnan, China

Marshall university, Huntington, West Virginia

Moss landind Marine laboratories, 
Moss Landing, California

Murdoch university, Murdoch, Australia

Museo de Historia natural de la Ciudad  
de Mexico, Mexico City, Mexico

Museo de la plata, La Plata, Argentina

Museo nacional de Historia natural, 
Santiago, Chile

Muséum d’histoire naturelle de neuchatel, 
Neuchatel, Switzerland

Museum für naturkunde der Humboldt-universität, 
Berlin, Germany

Muséum national d’histoire naturelle, 
Paris, France

nationaal natuurhistorisch Museum naturalis, 
Leiden, Netherlands

national Museum of Kenya, Nairobi, Kenya

national Museum of natural Science, Taiwan, China

national Science Foundation, Washington, D.C.

national Science Museum, Tokyo, Japan

natural History Museum of los Angeles County, 
Los Angeles, California

natural History Museum, London, United Kingdom

natural History Museum, university of Kansas, 
Lawrence, Kansas

natuurmuseum, Rotterdam, Netherlands

nausicaä, Centre national de la Mer, Boulogne-
sur-Mer Cedex, France

newell Farms Wildlife Rehabilitation Center, 
North Carolina

new england Aquarium, Boston, Massachusetts

north American pollinator protection Campaign, 
Washington, DC

northwest university, Xi-an, China

organization for economic Cooperation and  
Development (oeCD), Paris, France 
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oRnithological Information System (oRnIS), 
Berkeley, California

pablo de olavide university, Seville, Spain

paleontological Institute, Russian Academy 
of Sciences, Moscow, Russia

panArctic Flora project, Oslo, Norway

Rancho Santa Ana Botanic Garden, Claremont, 
California, U.S.A.

Roots and Shoots, Jane Goodall Institute, 
Toronto, Ontario

Royal Belgian Institute of natural Sciences, 
Brussels, Belgium

Royal Botanic Garden Herbarium, Kew, 
London, United Kingdom

Royal Botanic Gardens, Sydney, 
New South Wales, Australia

Saint louis university, St. Louis, Missouri

Scripps Institution of oceanography, 
San Diego, California

Secretariat of the Convention on Biological  
Diversity, Montreal, Quebec

Senckenberg Research Institute and natural  
History Museum, Frankfurt, Germany

Smithsonian Institution, Washington, D.C.

Society for the preservation of natural History 
Collections, Washington, D.C.

Southampton oceanography Centre, 
Southampton, United Kingdom

texas parks and Wildlife Department, 
Mission, Texas

the Field Museum, Chicago, Illinois

the Fur Institute of Canada

the new York Botanical Garden, 
New York, New York

tokyo Gakugei university, Tokyo, Japan 

tucson Gem and Mineral Society, Tucson, Arizona

universidad Autonoma de la Ciudad de Mexico

universidad eARtH, Costa Rica

universität Hamburg, Zoologisches Institut 
und Museum, Hamburg, Germany

university of Alaska, Fairbanks, Alaska

university of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona

university of California, Davis, California

university of Colorado, Boulder, Colorado

university of Colorado Denver, Denver, Colorado

university of Copenhagen, Copenhagen, Denmark

university of Kansas, Lawrence, Kansas

university of Michigan, Ann Arbor, Michigan

university of nebraska State Museum, 
Lincoln, Nebraska

university of oslo, Oslo, Norway

university of oxford, Oxford, England

university of plymouth, Plymouth, United Kingdom

university of tennessee, Department of ecology 
and evolutionary Biology, Knoxville, Tennessee

university of Zurich, Zurich, Switzerland

uS Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington D.C. 
and Arlington, Virginia

uSDA – Wildlife Services, North Carolina

uSDA Agricultural Research Service, Beltsville 

uSDA Forest Service, Morgantown, West Virginia 
and Logan, Utah

West Chester university, PA

Workman publishing, New York City, New York

Yale university press, New Haven, Connecticut

Zhejiang Museum of natural History, 
Hangzhou, China

Zoological Institute, Russian Academy of Sciences, 
St. Petersburg, Russia

Zoological Museum, Copenhagen, Denmark

� national
6th Canadian Heritage RiversConference, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Advanced Broadband enabled learning program 
(ABel), Toronto, Ontario

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada

Alliance of natural History Museums of Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Alpine Gems, Kingston, Ontario

Arcticnet, Quebec City, Quebec

Arius 3D, Toronto, Ontario

Bedeque Bay environmental Management  
Association, Emerald, PEI

Bedford Institute of oceanography, 
Dartmouth, Nova Scotia

Biodiversity Convention office  
(environment Canada), Ottawa, Ontario

Biodôme, Montreal, Quebec

Biosphère (environment Canada),
Montreal, Quebec

Bird Studies Canada, Port Rowan, Ontario

Bruce peninsula national park, Ontario

Calgary Zoo, Calgary, Alberta

Canada Aviation Museum, Ottawa, Ontario

Canada post, Ottawa, Ontario

Canada Science and technology Museum, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canada’s Schoolnet, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Agriculture Museum, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Arctic Shelf exchange Study (CASeS), 
Quebec City, Quebec

Canadian Association for Conservation, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Association of professional Conservators, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Association of Science Centres, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Association of Zoos and Aquariums, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Barcode of life network (university of 
Guelph), Guelph, Ontario

Canadian Biodiversity Institute, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Botanical Association, Guelph, Ontario

Canadian Botanical Conservation network, 
Burlington, Ontario

Canadian College of teachers, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Commission for uneSCo, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Committee for IuCn, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Conservation Institute, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Food Inspection Agency

Canadian Forest Service, natural Resources Canada

Canadian Fossil Discovery Centre, Morden, Manitoba

Canadian Geographic, Ottawa, Ontario 

Canadian Healthy oceans network (CHone), 
Memorial university of newfoundland 

Canadian Heritage Information network, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Canadian Heritage, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian International Development Agency, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Monarch Butterfly Conservation Advisory 
Group, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Museum of Civilization, Gatineau, Quebec

Canadian Museum of Contemporary photography, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Museums Association, Ottawa, Ontario
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Canadian network for environmental education 
and Communication (eeCoM), Emerald, PEI

Canadian parks and Wilderness Society, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Rivers Institute, university of 
new Brunswick, Saint John, New Brunswick

Canadian Science Writers Association, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Society of Zoologists, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian War Museum, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Wildlife Federation, Ottawa, Ontario

Canadian Wildlife Service, Ottawa, Ontario

CAnARIe Inc ., Ottawa, Ontario

CAnMet, natural Resources Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Carleton university, Ottawa, Ontario

Comité de Valorisation de la Rivière Beauport, 
Quebec City, Quebec

Committee on the Status of endangered Wildlife  
in Canada (CoSeWIC), Ottawa, Ontario

Dalhousie university, Halifax, Nova Scotia

ecological Monitoring and Assessment network 
(eMAn), Burlington, Ontario

ecomuseum, Saint-lawrence Valley natural History 
Society, Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Quebec

education Alliance for Sustainable ontario, 
Toronto, Ontario

entomological Society of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

environment and natural Resources, Yellowknife, 
Northwest Territories

environment Canada, Gatineau, Quebec

Festa-Bianchet, Dr . Marco, université de Sher-
brooke, Sherbrooke, Quebec

Fisheries and oceans Canada

Fitzhenry & Whiteside, ltd ., Markham, Ontario

Gem and Mineral Club of Scarborough, 
Scarborough, Ontario

Geological Survey of Canada, natural Resources 
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

Government of nunavut, Iqaluit, Nunavut

Government of Yukon, Whitehorse, Yukon

Historica encounters, Ottawa, Ontario

Indian and northern Affairs Canada

Insectarium de Montréal, Montreal, Quebec

Institut de l’énergie et de l’environnement, 
Quebec City, Quebec

Institut québécois de la biodiversité (IQBIo), 
Montreal, Quebec

Institute of the environment, university of ottawa, 
Ottawa, Ontario

International Institute for Sustainable Develoment 
(IISD), Winnipeg, Manitoba

Inuit tapiriit Kanatami, Ottawa, Ontario

IuCn Academy of environmental law, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Jardin Botanique de Montréal, Montreal, Quebec

Kawartha Rock and Fossil Club Inc ., 
Peterborough, Ontario

Key porter Books, Toronto, Ontario

Kids Can press, Toronto, Ontario

Kluane national park, Yukon, Canada 
(parks Canada), Haines Junction, Yukon

laurentian university, Sudbury, Ontario

laurier House national Historic Site of Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario

learning for a Sustainable Future, 
North York, Ontario

library and Archives Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

Manitoba Museum, Winnipeg, Manitoba

McCord Museum of Canadian History, 
Montréal, Quebec

McGill School of environment, Montreal, Quebec

McGill university, Montreal, Quebec

Memorial university of newfoundland, 
St. John’s, Newfoundland and Labrador

Ministère de l’Agriculture, des pêcheries  
et de l’Alimentation du Québec

Ministère des ressources naturelles et de  
la faune du Québec

Ministère du développement durable, de 
l’environnement et des parcs du Québec

Monarch teacher network - Canada, 
Toronto, Ontario

Montreal Science Centre, Montreal, Quebec

lakehead university, Thunder Bay, Ontario

Musée du Fjord, La Baie, Quebec

Museums Assistance program (MAp), 
Gatineau, Quebec

Muséums nature Montréal, Montreal, Quebec

national Arts Centre, Ottawa, Ontario

national Film Board, Ottawa, Ontario

national Gallery of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

national Sciences and engineering Research 
Council of Canada (nSeRC), Ottawa, Ontario

national Water Research Institute, 
Burlington, Ontario

natural Resources Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

nature Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

natureServe Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

natureServe Yukon, Yukon Department of 
the environment, Fish & Wildlife Branch, 
Ottawa, Ontario

new Brunswick provincial Museum, 
Saint John, New Brunswick

nova Scotia Museum of natural History, 
Halifax, Nova Scotia

nunavut Research Institute, Iqaluit, Nunavut

ontario Biodiversity Council, Toronto, Ontario

ontario educational Communications Authority, 
Toronto, Ontario

ontario Forestry Association, North York, Ontario

ontario Ministry of natural Resources

ontario teachers Federation, Toronto, Ontario

parks Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

pasquia Regional park, Arborfield, Saskatchewan

peterborough Centennial Museum and Archives, 
Peterborough, Ontario

planétarium de Montréal, Montreal, Quebec

portrait Gallery of Canada, library and Archives 
Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

prince of Wales northern Heritage Centre, 
Yellowknife, Northwest Territories

prospectors and Developers Association of 
Canada Mining Matters, Toronto, Ontario

public Health Alliance of Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

public Works and Government Services Canada, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Queen’s university, Kingston, Ontario

Redpath Museum, McGill university, 
Montreal, Quebec

Regional District of Central okanagan Museum, 
Kelowna, British Columbia

Royal Alberta Museum, Edmonton, Alberta

Royal Botanical Gardens, Burlington, Ontario

Royal British Columbia Museum, 
Victoria, British Columbia

Royal Canadian Geographical Society, 
Ottawa, Ontario

Royal Canadian Mint, Ottawa, Ontario

Royal ontario Museum, Toronto, Ontario

Royal Saskatchewan Museum, 
Regina, Saskatchewan

Royal tyrrell Museum of paleontology, 
Drumheller, Alberta
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Saskatchewan Watershed Authority, 
Regina, Saskatchewan

Science north, Sudbury, Ontario

Simon Fraser university, Burnaby, British Columbia

Students on Ice, Gatineau, Quebec

Sudbury Rock and lapidiary Society, Sudbury, 
Ontario

tD Friends of the environment Foundation, 
Toronto, Ontario

teck Corporation, Vancouver, British Columbia

teluS World of Science, Calgary, Alberta

teluS World of Science, Edmonton, Alberta

the Banff Centre, Banff, Alberta

the Grande Yellowhead Regional Division no .35, 
Edson, Alberta

the Kawartha pine Ridge District School Board, 
Peterborough, Ontario

the Rooms, St. John’s, Newfoundland 
and Labrador

thetford Mines Mineralogical and Mining Museum, 
Thetford Mines, Quebec

toronto Zoo, Toronto, Ontario

université de Montréal, Montreal, Quebec

université du Québec à Montréal, 
Montreal, Quebec

université du Québec à Rimouski, 
Rimouski, Quebec

université laval, Laval, Quebec

university of Alberta, Edmonton, Alberta

university of British Columbia, Vancouver, 
British Columbia

university of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta

university of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario

university of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba

university of Moncton, Moncton, New Brunswick

university of ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario

university of prince edward Island, Charlottetown, 
Prince Edward Island

university of toronto, Toronto, Ontario

university of Victoria, Victoria, British Columbia

university of Waterloo, Waterloo, Ontario

university of Western ontario, London, Ontario

university of Winnipeg, Winnipeg, Manitoba

Waterloo Collegiate Institute, Waterloo, Ontario

Wildlife Habitat Canada, Ottawa, Ontario

Yukon Beringia Interpretive Centre, Whitehorse, 
Yukon Territory

� regional
Algonquin College, Ottawa, Ontario

Alyea’s Jewellers, Ottawa, Ontario

Ashbury College, Ottawa, Ontario

Biodiversity Institute of ontario, university 
of Guelph, Guelph, Ontario

Brookfield High School, Ottawa, Ontario

CHuQ/CHul Research Center, Quebec City, 
Quebec

Cité étudiante Haute-Gatineau, Maniwaki, Quebec

City of ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario

Club de minéralogie de l’outaouais, Hull, Quebec

Club des ornithologues de l’outaouais, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Collège préuniversitaire nouvelles Frontières, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Collège St-Joseph, Gatineau, Quebec

Commission scolaire au Coeur-des-Vallées, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Commission scolaire des draveurs, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Commission scolaire des portages-de-l’outaouais, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Conseil du loisir scientifique de l’outaouais, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Doors open ottawa, Ottawa, Ontario

eastern ontario Model Forest, Kemptville, Ontario

École l’Équipage, Val-des-Monts, Quebec

École secondaire du Versant, Gatineau, Quebec

École secondaire Grande-Rivière, Gatineau, Quebec

École secondaire Hormisdas-Gamelin, 
Gatineau, Quebec

École secondaire louis-Joseph papineau, 
Papineauville, Quebec

École secondaire Mont-Bleu, Gatineau, Quebec

elmwood School, Ottawa, Ontario

Ikebana International, ottawa Centennial Chapter 
120, Ottawa, Ontario

Jean Vanier School, Ottawa, Ontario

little Ray’s Reptile Zoo, Ottawa, Ontario

Macnamara Field naturalists, Arnprior, Ontario

Malborough Academy, North Gower, Ontario

Mississippi Field naturalists, Almonte, Ontario

Mother theresa High School, Ottawa, Ontario

national Capital Commission, Gatineau park, 
Gatineau, Quebec

national Capital Region Wildlife Festival, 

Ottawa, Ontario

north Grenville District High School, 
Kemptville, Ontario

ottawa Field naturalists, Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa lapsmith and Mineral Club, 
Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa public library, Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa Regional Science Fair, Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa Riverkeeper, Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa School of Dance, Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa School of Speech and Drama, 
Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa-Carleton District School Board, 
Ottawa, Ontario

ottawa-Gatineau Geoheritage Committee

paleotec Services, Ottawa, Ontario

Quadeville Beryl and Rose Quartz Mines, 
Quadeville, Ontario

RÉSCIteCH (Réseau des enseignants en science  
et en technologie), Gatineau, Quebec

Réseau des BIBlIo de l’outaouais, 
Gatineau, Quebec

Rideau Valley Conservation Authority, 
Manotick, Ontario

Russell High School, Russell, Ontario

St-laurent Academy, Ottawa, Ontario

St . Mark High School, Ottawa, Ontario

the Dendron project, Ottawa, Ontario

university of ottawa, Faculty of education, 
Ottawa, Ontario

YMCA-YWCA, Ottawa, Ontario
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Managing our Financial Resources
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The Museum is managing several challenges. 
2009 saw a comprehensive review of the Museum’s strategic directions. The 

consultations leading to the development of the new, 5 year strategic plan and framework 
for 2009-2010 to 2013-2014 confirmed an interest in seeing the Museum undertake an 
advocacy role in support of natural history and the environment by sharing with the 
public in a more proactive way the results of its scientific research. 

The renovation of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building remains an exciting 
and demanding opportunity which is now in its final stages. The five year, $216M 
rehabilitation project is a cornerstone of the Museum’s renewal strategy. The construction 
project is on budget and is scheduled to be completed in the Fall of 2009. When the 
Museum fully reopens to the public in May 2010, two new galleries will be installed in 
the renovated East Wing, complementing the three new galleries which have already 
been installed in the West Wing. Fundraising for the new galleries has achieved over  
50 percent of its goal. However, the increasing strain upon the Museum’s operating 
budget has resulted in the need to defer installation of two galleries – the Nature of 
Humans and the Discovery Centre.

During the reporting period, the Canadian Museum of Nature implemented the 
outcome of the Federal Strategic Review exercise which resulted in annual reductions of 
$1.4 million to the Museum’s ongoing appropriation. 

This exercise, coupled with the lack of inflation protection for fixed facility costs, the 
new museum-standard environmental control systems and additional space that must 
now be maintained at the renovated Victoria Memorial Museum Building, have placed 
an additional severe pressure on the Museum’s operating budget. Significant steps have 
been taken over a number of years to reduce costs across all areas of programme and 
administrative areas in order to reallocate funds to meet the annually rising costs of 
the two buildings. The additional expense of the renewed facility is well beyond CMN’s 
budget capacity.

The Government’s commitment in Budget 2008 of additional funds primarily for 
infrastructure pressures has provided some welcome, interim relief. This injection of 
funds, coupled with expenditure control measures, internal reallocations, and increased 
revenue and attendance, has allowed the Museum to cover its projected deficit for 2009 
and report a surplus from operations of $396,000. 

Management Discussion and Analysis  
Overview – 2009

M a n a G e M e n T  D I S C u S S I o n  a n D  a n a L y S I S

the Canadian Museum of nature’s (CMn’s) primary objective is to fulfill its national mandate as described in the Museums 

Act, within the context of the governance and accountability regime established in part X of the Financial Administration 

Act . to this end, the Museum’s Board of trustees and Management are committed to managing the public and private funds 

invested in the Museum in a transparent, accountable manner and to optimizing the value of the contribution the Museum 

makes to Canadians and to Canadian society . 
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These measures will not be sufficient, however, to manage the significant deficit 
projected for 2010 once the fully restored Victoria Memorial Museum Building is 
commissioned and opens to the public in May 2010. 

Revenues from commercial operations are expected to increase in the future with the 
re-opening of the fully renovated Victoria Memorial Museum Building in May 2010. The 
Museum’s goal is to increase earned revenue to 15 percent of its operating budget by 
2012. To achieve this target, an in-depth review of revenue generating opportunities and 
prospects for increasing revenue has been undertaken and shared with the Minister of 
Canadian Heritage and Official Languages.

However, the Museum does not expect this increase in revenue will be sufficient to 
address the projected shortfall in facilities operating costs. In addition, current economic 
conditions may have a negative impact on future revenues from all sources and could 
result in reductions in attendance and revenues in the immediate future. The Museum’s 
financial framework and plan reflect, therefore, prudent assumptions for 2009-2010. 

The Museum anticipates consecutive years of deficiencies of revenue over expenses in 
the future, because of depreciation charges for its facility in Gatineau which is shown on 
the Museum’s balance sheet as a capital lease. This accounting treatment will keep the 
Corporation’s Equity in a deficit position for many years. The situation will begin to reverse 
near the mid-point of the lease term and will completely rectify itself over the full term of 
the lease. This does not impact the Corporation’s cash flow or financial stability in any way.

The Museum has also begun planning the transition to the International Financial 
Reporting Standards which will come into effect starting on April 1, 2011. This may 
involve changes to the disclosure requirements for next year’s financial statements.

Sources of funds 
Sources of funds include Parliamentary appropriation (the portion recognized as revenue) 
and generated revenues. Parliamentary appropriation represents 90 percent of the Museum’s 
budget which is supplemented by revenue-generating activities. In 2009, sources of funds 
amounted to $33,704,000 compared with $32,317,000 in 2008. This variation results 
from a 5 year investment by the federal government to offset primarily capital pressures. 

parliamentary Appropriation

The Museum’s approved Parliamentary appropriation decreased from $85,092,000 in 
2008 to $62,339,000 in 2009 of which $32,000,000 was dedicated to the Renewal Project. 
The difference is due to a decrease of $26 million in the cash flow requirements of the 
Renewal Project as approved by the Treasury Board Secretariat and a one-time increase, 
net of strategic review reductions, in funding for capital projects and wage compensation. 

On an accrual basis, however, Parliamentary appropriation increased from $28,735,000 
in 2008 to $30,241,000 in 2009. This is due mainly to the first installment of a 5 year 
investment by the federal government to offset primarily infrastructure pressures.

Revenue

Generated revenues in 2009 were 3.3 percent lower than in 2008. The Museum’s 
commercial revenue continued to increase as a result of the reopening, in October 
2006, of the West Wing of the Museum with renewed galleries and enhanced services 
available to the public. Contribution revenues vary from year to year depending upon 
fundraising. The results for 2009 when compared to 2008 reflect, for example, the 
successful International Polar Year Project and sponsorships for both Water travelling 
and permanent gallery projects. However interest income decreased due to fewer funds 
available for investment purposes and a drastic drop in interest rates.
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Cost of operations 
The Museum’s total cost of operations in 2009 was $33,308,000 compared to $32,268,000 
in 2008. The variance is due mainly to increases in personnel and employee benefits costs.

personnel costs

Personnel costs rose by 7 percent due to salary increases granted during the year, a 
one-time charge related to employer’s share of benefits and staffing of four temporary or 
permanent positions which had remained vacant the previous year. 

operation and maintenance of buildings 
The costs of operating and maintaining the Museum’s two facilities have increased 
since 2004 and will continue to climb as the renovated spaces at the Victoria Memorial 
Museum Building come on stream. In 2009, because the Museum outsourced its facilities 
management services to the private sector, it benefited from significant savings in the 
operating costs of its buildings. These savings contributed to the financial results for 2009. 

Summary
While there are significant challenges in the operating environment and with the 
renovation of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building, the Museum has in place a number 
of strategies designed to manage both known and anticipated pressures. An enterprise 
risk management approach is being used to manage these strategies and pressures, which 
support the vision for the Museum’s future as a national institution providing maximum 
value and service to the public. 

Achieving financial sustainability has been, and will continue to be, one of the 
main priorities of the Museum. The issue of rising facility costs, including a permanent 
resolution for the operating costs of the Victoria Memorial Museum building remains 
without a definitive answer. The Museum will continue to work with the Government of 
Canada to seek a long-term solution to its shortfall in facilities operating funds. 

The Museum will also concentrate on the following priorities for 2010:

n Complete the renewal of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building and prepare for 
the grand opening of the fully renovated building in May 2010;

n Implement the new Strategic Plan for 2009-2010 to 2013-2014;

n Maximize revenue from commercial operations and fundraising/sponsorships;

n Maintain and sustain participation in partnerships and associations that help the 
Museum fulfill its national service role;

n Control costs through prudent management and stewardship of its resources.

These measures, combined with the continuing support of the Government of Canada 
and a highly motivated and skilled team, will allow the Museum to continue to fulfill its 
mandate to “…increase throughout Canada and internationally, interest in, knowledge of and 
appreciation and respect for the natural world...”
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Management’s responsibility  
for financial reporting 

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining a system of books, records, 
internal controls and management practices to provide reasonable assurance that: reliable 
financial information is produced; the assets of the Corporation are safeguarded and 
controlled; the transactions of the Corporation are in accordance with the relevant legis-
lation, regulations and by-laws of the Corporation; the resources of the Corporation are 
managed efficiently and economically; and the operations of the Corporation are carried 
out effectively.

Management is also responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the financial  
statements of the Corporation. The accompanying financial statements were prepared  
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. The financial 
information contained elsewhere in this annual report is consistent with that in the  
financial statements. 

The Board of Trustees is responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its  
responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control. The Board exercises its  
responsibilities through the Audit and Finance Committee, which includes a majority of 
members who are not officers of the Corporation. The Committee meets from time to 
time with management, the Corporation’s internal auditors and the Office of the Auditor 
General of Canada to review the manner in which these groups are performing their 
responsibilities and to discuss auditing, internal controls, and other relevant financial 
matters. The Board of Trustees has reviewed the financial statements with the Office of 
the Auditor General of Canada and has approved them.

The financial statements have been audited by the Auditor General of Canada. Her 
report offers an independent opinion on the financial statements to the Minister of 
Canadian Heritage and Official Languages.

Joanne DiCosimo
President and Chief Executive Officer

May 29, 2009

Maureen Dougan
Vice President, Corporate Services  
and Chief Operating Officer
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Auditor’s Report
To the Minister of Canadian Heritage and Official Languages

I have audited the balance sheet of the Canadian Museum of Nature as at March 31, 2009 
and the statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Corporation’s management. My responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on my audit.

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing  
standards. Those standards require that I plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used 
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation.

In my opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Corporation as at March 31, 2009 and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted accounting principles. As required by the Financial Administration Act, 
I report that, in my opinion, these principles have been applied on a basis consistent with 
that of the preceding year. 

Further, in my opinion, the transactions of the Corporation that have come to my 
notice during my audit of the financial statements have, in all significant respects, been in 
accordance with Part X of the Financial Administration Act and regulations, the Museums 
Act and the by-laws of the Corporation.

Mark G. Watters, CA
Assistant Auditor General 
for the Auditor General of Canada

Ottawa, Canada
May 29, 2009

f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S
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Approved by the Board of Trustees:

r. Kenneth armstrong
Chairman of the Board of Trustees 

Martin Joanisse
Chairman of the Audit and Finance Committee

Recommended by Management:

Maureen Dougan
Vice President, Corporate Services and Chief Operating Officer

Lynne Ladouceur, Ca
Senior Full Time Financial Officer

Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2009

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated 
(note 18)

assets

 Current

  Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) 43,467 45,478

  Accounts receivable

   Trade 311 421

   Government departments and agencies (note 13) 3,965 1,369

  Prepaid expenses 403 616

48,146 47,884

 Restricted cash, cash equivalents and receivables (note 4) 1,892 2,032 

 Collections (note 5) 1 1 

 Capital assets (note 6) 191,687 159,109 

241,726 209,026 

Liabilities

 Current

  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

   Trade 8,343 8,177 

   Government departments and agencies (note 13) 762 848 

  Current portion – obligation under capital lease (note 7) 396 359 

  Deferred revenue and parliamentary appropriation 34,313 35,620 

  Employee future benefits (note 8) 444 411 

44,258 45,415 

Obligation under capital lease (note 7) 31,042 31,438 

Deferred capital funding (note 9) 168,691 135,114 

Employee future benefits (note 8) 2,287 2,065 

246,278 214,032 

equity

 Deficit (6,034) (6,430)

 Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,482 1,424 

(4,552) (5,006)

241,726 209,026 

Commitments and Contingencies (notes 14 and 15) 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S

Statement of operations and Comprehensive Income for the year ended March 31, 2009

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated 
(note 18)

revenue

 Commercial operations (note 11)  897  891 

 Interest income  1,218  1,594 

 Contributions  764  605 

 Educational programmes  387  350 

 Scientific services  165  87 

 Other  32  55 

 3,463  3,582 

expenses (note 20)

 Public education programmes  6,286  5,490 

 Collection management  2,241  2,449 

 Research  4,437  4,166 

 Corporate management  7,196  6,988 

 Accommodation  9,999  10,179 

 Depreciation of capital assets  3,149  2,996 

 33,308  32,268 

net result of operations before government funding  (29,845)  (28,686)

 Parliamentary appropriation (note 12)  30,241  28,735 

net result of operations for the year  396  49 

other comprehensive income (loss)

 Restricted contributions from non-owners received  315  338 

 Net investment income attributed to restricted contributions from non-owners  28  54 

 Restricted contributions from non-owners recognized  (285)  (414)

Total of other comprehensive income (loss) for the year  58  (22)

Comprehensive income for the year  454  27 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in equity for the year ended March 31, 2009

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated 
(note 18)

Deficit

 Balance, beginning of year  (6,430)  (6,479)

 Net results of operations for the year  396  49 

balance, end of year  (6,034)  (6,430)

accumulated other Comprehensive Income

 Restricted contributions from non-owners (note 10)

  Balance, beginning of year  1,424  1,446 

  Other comprehensive income (loss)  58  (22)

accumulated other Comprehensive Income, end of year  1,482  1,424 

equity, end of year  (4,552)  (5,006)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended March 31, 2009

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated 
(note 18)

operating activities

 Cash receipts – customers  3,283  3,954 

 Cash receipts – parliamentary appropriation  23,522  53,867 

 Cash disbursements – suppliers and employees  (26,755)  (25,732)

 Interest received  1,299  1,609 

 Interest paid  (3,141)  (3,176)

 (1,792)  30,522 

financing activities

 Appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets  35,727  31,834 

 Obligation under capital lease  (359)  (325)

 35,368  31,509 

Investing activities

 Acquisition of capital assets  (35,727)  (31,834)

 Decrease in restricted cash, cash equivalents and receivable  140  403 

 (35,587)  (31,431)

(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,011)  30,600 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year  45,478  14,878 

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  43,467  45,478 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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notes to the Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2009
1 . Authority and Mission

The Canadian Museum of Nature (the “Corporation”) was established by the Museums Act on July 1st, 1990, and is an agent Crown cor-
poration named in Part I of Schedule III to the Financial Administration Act and is not subject to the requirements of the Income Tax Act.

The Corporation’s mission is to increase, throughout Canada and internationally, interest in, knowledge of and appreciation and 
respect for the natural world by establishing, maintaining and developing for research and posterity a collection of natural history 
objects, with special but not exclusive reference to Canada, and by demonstrating the natural world, the knowledge derived from it 
and the understanding it represents.

2 . Significant Accounting policies

A) Basis of Accounting
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and reflect the following 
policies.

B) use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles requires management to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenue and expenses for the year. Employee future benefits and the estimated useful lives of capital assets are the 
most significant items for which estimates are used. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimated.

C) Collections
The Canadian Museum of Nature holds and preserves invaluable collections of natural history specimens for the benefit of Canadians, 
present and future. The collections form the largest part of the assets of the Corporation. The collections are shown as an asset on 
the balance sheet at a nominal value of $1,000 due to practical difficulties in determining a meaningful value for these assets. Objects 
purchased for the collections are recorded as an expense in the year of acquisition. Objects donated to the Corporation are recorded as 
assets at the nominal value.

D) Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost. Assets recorded as capital leases 
are initially recorded at the present value of the minimum lease 
payments at the inception of the lease. Land and building owned 
by the Government of Canada and that are under the control of 
the Corporation are recorded at their estimated cost. Depreciation 
is calculated on the straight-line method using rates based on the 
estimated useful life of the assets as shown on the right.

Amounts included in renovation work in progress are transferred 
to the appropriate capital asset classification upon completion, 
and are then depreciated according to the Corporation’s policy.

Material and equipment acquired for the purpose of the  
design, development and maintenance of exhibits are charged to 
operations in the year of acquisition.

40 years Victoria Memorial Museum Building

35 years Property under capital lease

35 years Collection cabinets and compactors

10 years Research equipment

10 years Technical equipment

10 years Furnishings and office equipment

5 to 25 years Building improvements

5 years Motor Vehicles

3 to 5 years Leasehold improvements

3 years Computer equipment and software

f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S
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e) employee Future Benefits

i) pension benefits

All eligible employees participate in the Public Service Pension Plan administered by the Government of Canada. The Corporation’s 
contribution to the plan reflects the full cost as employer. This amount is currently based on a multiple of the employee’s required 
contributions, and may change over time depending on the experience of the Plan. These contributions represent the total pension 
obligations of the Corporation and are charged to operations during the year in which the services are rendered. The Corporation is not 
currently required to make contributions with respect to actuarial deficiencies of the Public Service Pension Plan.

ii) Severance benefits

Employees are entitled to severance benefits, as provided for under labor contracts and conditions of employment. The cost of these 
benefits is accrued to operations as the employees render the services necessary to earn them. Management determined the accrued 
benefit obligation using a method based upon assumptions and its best estimates. These benefits represent the only obligation of the 
Corporation that entails settlement by future payment.

F) Revenue Recognition
Revenues from commercial operations, educational programmes, scientific services and other revenues are recognized when persuasive 
evidence of an arrangement exists between the two parties, goods have been delivered or services have been provided to the customers, 
price is fixed and determinable and collection is reasonably assured. The Corporation also records deferred revenue when amounts are 
received in advance of providing goods and services.

G) parliamentary Appropriation
The parliamentary appropriation for operating expenditures is recognized as revenue in the fiscal year for which it is approved. The 
portion of the parliamentary appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets is recorded as deferred capital funding and 
amortized on the same basis and over the same period as the related capital assets. Parliamentary appropriations for specific projects 
are deferred and then recognized on the Statement of Operations in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.

H) Restricted Contributions from non-owners
Restricted contributions from non-owners received during the year, and related investment income, which includes realized and non-
realized gains and losses, are recorded in Other Comprehensive Income and recognized as revenue in the net result of operations in the 
year in which the related expenses are recognized.

Restricted contributions include an endowment consisting of restricted donations received by the Corporation. The endowment 
principal is required to be maintained intact, and is included in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. The investment income 
generated from the endowment is recorded in the Other Comprehensive Income and recognized as revenue in the net result of 
operations in the year in which the related expenses are recognized. Investment income must be used in accordance with the purpose 
established by the donors.

Contributions received in a form other than cash are recorded at their fair value at the date they are received by the Corporation. 
Volunteers contribute a significant number of hours per year. Because of the difficulty of determining their fair value, contributed 
services are not recognized in the financial statements.

I) Financial Instruments
After initial recognition at fair value, the measurement of financial instruments depends on their classification. The Corporation’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities are classified and measured as follows:

asset/Liability Classification Measurement

Cash and cash equivalents Held for trading Fair value

Restricted cash and cash equivalents Held for trading Fair value

Accounts receivable Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Restricted receivables Loans and receivables Amortised cost

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Other financial liabilities Amortised cost
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J) Adoption of new Accounting Standards
Effective April 1, 2008, the Corporation adopted the following new Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) Handbook Sections:

i) Section 1535, “Capital Disclosures”

Section 1535, “Capital Disclosures”, establishes disclosure requirements for an entity to enable users of the financial statements to 
evaluate objectives, policies and processes for managing capital, quantitative information about what the Corporation regards as capital 
and disclosures of any externally imposed capital requirements, as well as the consequences for non-compliance. The Corporation has 
provided this disclosure in note 16.

ii) Section 3862, “Financial Instruments - Disclosures” and Section 3863, “Financial Instruments – presentation”

These standards replace Section 3861, “Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation”, increasing the emphasis on disclosure 
about risks associated with both recognized and unrecognized financial instruments and how these risks are managed. Disclosure 
requirements pertaining to these Sections are contained in note 17.

K) Future Accounting Change

International Financial Reporting Standards

In February 2008, the CICA confirmed that Canadian publicly accountable enterprises will be required to adopt International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) for years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. The Corporation’s transition date is April 1, 2011 and 
will require restatement for comparative purposes of amounts reported by the Corporation for the year ending March 31, 2011. The 
Corporation has initiated an IFRS transition project.

3 . Cash and Cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and investments in money market instruments with terms to maturity of  
90 days or less.

The Corporation invests operating funds in the short-term money market instruments that are rated AA or better and guaranteed  
by the Government of Canada, a provincial government or the National Bank of Canada. The investment vehicles consist of banker’s  
acceptance, promissory notes and term deposits. The overall portfolio yield as at March 31, 2009 was 1.23 percent (2008 – 3.59 percent) 
and the average term to maturity is 6 days (2008 – 29 days).

4 . Restricted Cash, Cash equivalents and Receivables

Restricted cash, cash equivalents and receivables include deferred contributions, funds received for the Endowment and amounts 
receivable for contributions from non-owners. Restricted cash accounts are managed in accordance with the donor’s wishes and are 
invested in accordance with investment policies of the Corporation.

Restricted cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and investments in money market instruments with terms to 
maturity of 90 days or less.

The Corporation invests restricted funds in short-term money market instruments rated AA or better and guaranteed by the 
Government of Canada, a provincial government or the National Bank of Canada. The investment vehicles consist of banker’s accep-
tance, promissory notes and term deposits. As of March 31, 2009, the Corporation did not hold any investment.

(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

Cash 38,467 12,418

Cash Equivalents 5,000 33,060

43,467 45,478

f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S
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5 . Collections  

The natural history collections consist of over 10.5 million specimens and grew by 86,059 items this fiscal year (2008 – 80,151). They 
are an exceptional scientific resource that is available nationally and internationally for research, exhibits and education.

The Corporation maintains multiple collection groupings, with the major collections as noted below divided into four discipline-
related groups:

n the Earth Sciences collection (minerals, rocks, gems, fossils);

n the Vertebrates collection (mammals, birds, fishes, amphibians and reptiles);

n the Invertebrates collection (molluscs, insects, crustaceans, parasites, annelids);

n the Botany collection (algae, vascular plants, bryophytes, lichens).

The collections are managed and cared for through a collections risk assessment process that seeks to preserve the value of collections 
and uses a rational process for the establishment of priorities for their care. The Corporation has incurred $2.2 million in 2009 (2008 –  
$2 million) for the management, protection and conservation of its collections. 

6 . Capital Assets

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated 
(note 18)

Cost Accumulated
depreciation 

net book  
value

Net book  
value

Land 627 – 627 627

Renovation work in progress 109,033 – 109,033 74,555

Victoria Memorial Museum Building 65,046 9,011 56,035 57,037

Property under capital lease 35,040 12,890 22,150 23,141

Collection cabinets and compactors 3,575  1,318 2,257 2,360

Research equipment 3,200  2,629 571 734

Leasehold improvements 1,140  631 509 419

Computer equipment and software 2,105  1,887 218 105

Furnishings and office equipment 954  745 209 53

Technical equipment 342  275 67 70

Motor Vehicles 42 36 6 –

Building improvements 11 6 5 8

221,115 29,428 191,687 159,109
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7 . obligation under Capital lease

The Natural Heritage Building houses the Canadian Museum of Nature natural history collections and administrative functions, on the 
Corporation’s site in Gatineau, Quebec. The Corporation is acquiring the building through a lease purchase agreement with a term of 
35 years. It is committed to pay rent under all circumstances and in the event of termination of the lease, at the Corporation’s option or 
otherwise, pay sufficient rent to repay all financing on the building. Management intends to completely discharge its obligation under 
the lease and obtain free title to the building in 2031, after the Corporation uses its right to purchase the building for $10.

Future minimum lease repayments, by year and in aggregate, under the financing obligation are as follows:

8 . employee Future Benefits 

i) pension benefits

The Corporation and all eligible employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan. This pension plan provides benefits based 
on years of services and average earnings at retirement. The benefits are fully indexed to the increase in the Consumer Price Index. The 
Corporation’s and employees’ contributions to the plan during the year were as follows:

ii) Severance benefits

The Corporation provides severance benefits to its employees based on years of service and final salary. This benefit plan is not pre-
funded and thus has no assets, resulting in a plan deficit equal to the accrued benefit obligation. Benefits will be paid from future 
appropriations. Information about the plan, measured at the balance sheet date, is as follows:

(in thousands of dollars) obligation under capital lease

2010 3,500

2011 3,500

2012 3,500

2013 3,500

2014 3,500

Thereafter 61,250 

Total minimum future payments (1) 78,750

Deduct: Imputed interest (47,312)

Present value of financing obligations (2) 31,438

(1) The amounts payable under the capital lease are based on the fixed interest rate of 9.88%, for a period of 35 years, established at the time of signing the lease.
(2) The present value of the capital lease obligation based on a current market interest rate of 8.05% is estimated at $36 million.

(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

Corporation’s contributions 2,100 1,623

Employees’ contributions 878 784

(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year 2,476 2,483

Cost for the year 365 288

Benefits paid during the year  (110)  (295)

accrued benefit obligation, end of year 2,731 2,476

Short term portion 444 411

Long term portion 2,287 2,065

2,731 2,476

f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S



C O N T R I B U T I N G  T O  I N T E R N A T I O N A L  P O L A R  Y E A R6 2

9 . Deferred Capital Funding

Deferred capital funding represents unamortized parliamentary appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets. Changes in 
the deferred capital funding balance are as follows:

10 . Restricted Contributions From non-owners 

Included in restricted contributions from non-owners is an endowment in the principal amount of $305,000 (2008 – $305,000) 
received from Anne and Henry Howden, which included a significant entomological collection. The endowment was established to 
enable professional studies and research of entomological collections for the Museum.

The principal of the Systematic Entomology Endowment Fund can not be expended. Accumulated interest earned from the endow-
ment must be expended for specified purposes. The earned interest for the current year totalled $7,612 (2008 – $13,644), and is 
included in Other Comprehensive Income.

In the event that the Corporation decides not to maintain entomological collections, the Systematic Entomology Endowment Fund 
shall be transferred, along with any entomological collections, to the Royal Ontario Museum.

11 . Commercial operations

Commercial operations revenue is comprised as follows: 

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated
(note 18)

Beginning balance 135,114 105,274

Appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets 35,727 31,834

Amortization of deferred capital funding (2,150) (1,994)

ending balance 168,691 135,114

(in thousands of dollars) 2009 2008

Admission fees 505 498

Parking 196 181

Publishing royalties 39 65

Memberships 57 62

Boutique and cafeteria leases 59 54

Rental of facilities  32  19 

Publishing revenues 9 12

897 891
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12 . parliamentary Appropriation 

To achieve its mission, the Corporation relies on government funding. This government funding is comprised as follows:

13 . Related party transactions  

The Corporation is related to all Government of Canada departments, agencies and Crown corporations. 
In addition to those related party transactions disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Corporation incurred expenses 

for the work and services provided by other government departments, agencies, and Crown corporations totalling $2,788,000 (2008 – 
$4,209,247), and earned revenues totalling $164,000 (2008 – $235,247). These transactions were conducted in the normal course of 
operations, under the same terms and conditions that applied to outside parties and recorded at the exchange amount. 

14 . Contractual Commitments 

As of March 31, 2009, the Corporation has contracts for information systems and building maintenance services with a remaining value 
of $4,785,000. Future minimum payments under these contracts are as follows:

As of March 31, 2009, the Corporation also has long-term contracts, with a remaining value of $16,804,000, for building construction 
and design services for the renovation of the Victoria Memorial Museum Building. This project will be completed in the fiscal year 
ending March 31, 2011.

15 . Contingencies

In the normal course of its operations, the Corporation becomes involved in various claims or legal actions. Some of these potential 
liabilities may become actual liabilities when one or more future events occur or fail to occur. To the extent that the future event is likely 
to occur or fail to occur, and a reasonable estimate of the loss can be made, an estimated liability and an expense are recorded in the 
Corporation’s financial statements. As of March 31, 2009, no amount has been accounted for in the financial statements.

16 . Capital Disclosures

The Corporation’s capital is defined as including its cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, cash equivalents and receivable, capital 
assets and accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI). The Corporation’s primary objectives include maintaining sufficient 
capital for operations and protecting its ability to meet its on-going obligations including those related to restricted contributions from 
non-owners included in the AOCI. As at March 31, 2009, the Corporation meets its obligations with regards to capital management.

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated
(note 18)

appropriation approved:

Capital and Operating Budget 59,176 84,221

Supplementary budgets 3,163 871

62,339 85,092

Portion of parliamentary appropriation in current year deferred for future capital projects (33,483) (35,220)

Previous year’s appropriation used in current year to complete specific projects 34,962 8,703

Appropriation used to purchase depreciable capital assets (35,727) (31,834)

Amortization of deferred capital funding 2,150 1,994

appropriation used 30,241 28,735

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

3,455,000 839,000 232,000 128,000 131,000

f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S
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17 . Financial Instruments

A) Financial Risk Management
All the following risks have no significant impact on the Corporation’s financial statements.

i) Credit risk

Credit risk is defined as an unexpected loss if a debtor is unable to discharge its obligations toward the Corporation in a timely man-
ner or when a guaranteed party defaults on its obligation. The Corporation is exposed to credit risk, through its normal commercial 
activities, on the accounts receivable from its customers ($4,276,000) and short term investments ($5,000,000). In order to reduce this 
risk, the Corporation closely monitors the issuance and collection of credit to commercial clients and the concentration of this risk is 
also minimized because the Corporation has a large and diverse customer base. The Investment policy limits the Corporation to secure 
investments (see notes 3 and 4).

ii) liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the potential inability to meet financial obligations as they become due. The Corporation manages this risk by main-
taining detailed cash forecasts, as well as long-term operating and strategic plans. The management of liquidity requires a constant 
monitoring of expected cash inflows and outflows which is achieved through a forecast of the Corporation’s liquidity position, to ensure 
adequacy and efficient use of cash resources.

iii) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices, 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument of its issuer, or factors affecting all similar 
financial instruments traded in the market. The Corporation is exposed to the following market risks: Currency risk, Interest rate risk, 
and Price risk.

B) Fair value
The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, restricted cash, cash equivalents and receivables, 
and accounts payable and accrued liabilities approximate their fair values due to their short term maturity.

18 . Retroactive Adjustment

During 2006-2007, Phases 2 and 3 of the renovations to the Victoria Memorial Museum Building were placed into service. The 
Corporation omitted to commence depreciating general costs associated to these phases at that time. Costs totaling $21,037,000 have 
been reclassified from work in progress to Victoria Memorial Museum Building as at March 31, 2008. 

The purpose of this adjustment is to depreciate general costs related to Phases 2 and 3 retroactively to 2007, when these phases were 
completed and reopened to the public. This change decreased both the capital assets and the deferred capital funding of 2008 of $789,000, 
with no impact on Equity. Consequently, the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2008 were restated as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2008
restated

2008
as previously stated

balance Sheet:

 Capital Assets 159,109 159,898

 Deferred Capital Funding 135,114 135,903

Statement of operations and Comprehensive Income:

 Depreciation of capital assets 2,996 2,470

 Parliamentary appropriation 28,735 28,209

notes to financial Statements:

 Renovation work in progress (note 6) 74,555 95,592

 Victoria Memorial Museum Building – net book value (note 6) 57,037 36,789

 Deferred Capital Funding, beginning balance (note 9) 105,274 105,537

 Amortization of deferred capital funding (notes 9 and 12) (1,994) (1,468)
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19 . Comparative Figures

The 2008 comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the 2009 financial statement presentation.

20 . Summary of expenses by Classification  

(in thousands of dollars)

2009 2008 restated
(note 18)

 Personnel costs  16,455  15,382 

 Depreciation of capital assets  3,149  2,996 

 Interest on capital lease obligation  3,141  3,175 

 Professional and special services  2,572  2,401 

 Operation and maintenance of buildings  2,259  2,876 

 Real property taxes  1,617  1,527 

 Information management infrastructure and systems  1,195  1,096 

 Exhibitions  960  897 

 Travel  779  517 

 Repairs and maintenance  619  611 

 Marketing and communications  457  460 

 Freight and cartage  64  74 

 Purchase of objects for collections  29  203 

 Other  12  53 

 33,308  32,268 

f I n a n C I a L  S T a T e M e n T S
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